Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: April 6, 2021 REVISED: May 28, 2021 ACCEPTED: June 17, 2021 PUBLISHED: July 5, 2021

Holographic path-integral optimization

Jan Boruch,^a Pawel Caputa,^a Dongsheng Ge^a and Tadashi Takayanagi^{b,c,d}

^a Faculty of Physics, University of Warsaw, ul. Pasteura 5, 02-093 Warsaw, Poland

^b Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyoto University, Kitashirakawa Oiwakecho, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

^cInamori Research Institute for Science,

620 Suiginya-cho, Shimogyo-ku, Kyoto 600-8411 Japan

^d Kavli Institute for the Physics and Mathematics of the Universe (Kavli IPMU), University of Tokyo, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8582, Japan

E-mail: Ja.boruch@student.uw.edu.pl, Pawel.Caputa@fuw.edu.pl, Dongsheng.Ge@fuw.edu.pl, takayana@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: In this work we elaborate on holographic description of the path-integral optimization in conformal field theories (CFT) using Hartle-Hawking wave functions in Anti-de Sitter spacetimes. We argue that the maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave function is equivalent to the path-integral optimization procedure in CFT. In particular, we show that metrics that maximize gravity wave functions computed in particular holographic geometries, precisely match those derived in the path-integral optimization procedure for their dual CFT states. The present work is a detailed version of [1] and contains many new results such as analysis of excited states in various dimensions including JT gravity, and a new way of estimating holographic path-integral complexity from Hartle-Hawking wave functions. Finally, we generalize the analysis to Lorentzian Anti-de Sitter and de Sitter geometries and use it to shed light on path-integral optimization in Lorentzian CFTs.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Conformal Field Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 2104.00010



https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2021)016

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Review of the path-integral optimization	3
	2.1 Two-dimensional CFTs	3
	2.2 Higher-dimensional CFTs	7
3	Optimization from Hartle-Hawking wave functions	8
	3.1 Definition of Hartle-Hawking wave functions	9
	3.2 Evaluation of $\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi]$	11
	3.3 Maximization	13
	3.4 Holographic path-integral complexity	16
	3.5 Maximization and gravity Hamiltonian constraint	18
	3.6 Boundary UV limit	19
4	More Euclidean examples	21
	4.1 Global AdS_{d+1}	21
	4.2 Excited states in 3d	24
	4.2.1 Conical singularities	26
	4.2.2 Thermofield double	27
	4.3 Planar black holes in higher dimensions	29
5	JT gravity	32
6	Lorentzian spacetimes	35
	6.1 Semi-classical wave functions in AdS_{d+1}	37
	6.1.1 Timelike Q	37
	6.1.2 Spacelike Q	41
	6.2 Semi-classical wave-functions in dS_{d+1}	43
	6.2.1 Timelike Q	44
	6.2.2 Spacelike Q	47
	6.3 Towards Lorentzian path-integral optimization	50
7	Tension as an emergent time	52
	7.1 Euclidean AdS	52
	7.2 Lorentzian AdS	52
	7.3 Lorentzian dS	53
8	Conclusions	54
\mathbf{A}	Lorentzian determinant	56

В	Inhomogeneous slices in AdS_3	57
	B.1 Action and solutions	57
	B.2 Uniformized metric	59
	B.3 Inhomogeneous equations of motion	60
\mathbf{C}	Properties of the gravitational action with modified Hayward term	61
D	Maps in AdS_3	62

1 Introduction

Holography, or the so-called Anti-de Sitter space/Conformal Field Theory (AdS/CFT) correspondence [2], is one of the most promising approaches to quantum gravity. The main reason is that it relates quantum theories of gravity on Anti-de Sitter spacetimes to a class of CFTs, where there is no gravity present. Therefore, in AdS/CFT, gravitational spacetime is emergent and, as it is manifest in the holographic entanglement entropy [3–5], it is encoded in the geometry of quantum entanglement in CFT. Thus we expect that the dynamics of quantum entanglement in CFTs is directly related to that of quantum gravity.

Surprisingly, some tensor networks provide useful playgrounds where holographic correspondence is realized in discretized lattice models. This direction of research started from the pioneering work [6], which conjectured the relation between AdS gravity and a particular tensor network for CFT states called MERA (multi-scale entanglement renormalization ansatz) [7–11]. Among others, this tensor network setup beautifully explains the geometric calculation of entanglement entropy in AdS/CFT [3, 4]. Refer to e.g. [12–26] for further progress and improvements in this direction.

Even though the connection between tensor networks and AdS geometry leads to an interesting progress in qualitative understanding of the mechanism behind AdS/CFT, it still remains among toy models for holography (however, refer to a few recent attempts to improve that [27–31]). The main obstacle of tensor network approaches to AdS/CFT is the manifest presence of lattice regularizations, which prohibits us from understanding analytical results in the continuum limit. On the other hand current approaches to continuous tensor networks such as e.g. cMERA (continuous MERA) are limited to free theories (see however [32–36] for recent progress beyond free CFTs). Therefore, in order to draw conclusions about a genuine holography, we need to develop a tensor network-like formalism applicable to continuous and interacting, holographic CFTs.

The path-integral optimization, which was proposed in [37, 38] and is reviewed in the next section, is a promising formalism for this purpose. The construction starts with a wave function representation of a CFT state defined by Feynman's path-integral on a flat Euclidean space with prescribed boundary condition for quantum fields. Then, utilizing the conformal symmetry, we perform a Weyl re-scaling of the Euclidean metric while keeping the boundary condition fixed, so that the final quantum state prepared by the path-integral remains unchanged. Intuitively, we can interpret path-integrals on different Weyl-rescaled geometries as different continuous (non-unitary) tensor networks preparing the same quantum state (see e.g. [20] for relation between tensor networks and geometry of path-integrals).

The "lattice structure" of the path-integral network is specified by the metric such that there is a unit lattice site per unit area. This way, we can simplify such continuous tensor networks by a coarse-graining procedure implemented by choosing an appropriate metric (Weyl factor). The maximization of this coarse-graining is called the "path-integral optimization". Quantitatively, the path-integral optimization corresponds to minimizing the "path-integral complexity", a functional of the background metric, given by e.g. the Liouville action in two-dimensional CFTs.¹ More generally, "complexity" gives us a notion of how hard it is to prepare a given quantum state and in this context we can regard it as a size of the path-integral tensor network.

After this procedure it was found that optimal metrics for CFT path-integrals are indeed hyperbolic (AdS) [37, 38]. This is a strong evidence that the path-integral optimization provides a successful, continuum version of the AdS/tensor network correspondence. Nevertheless, the emergence of AdS geometries from this approach has been mysterious and precise connection (i.e. the gravity dual) to the AdS/CFT has not been well understood. Moreover, up to date, we have been able to fully analyze only two-dimensional CFT examples while higher-dimensional generalization of this procedure relied only on a conjectured path-integral complexity action.

In this article, we present a more direct relation between the path-integral optimization and the AdS/CFT in the light of the Hartle-Hawking wave function. We will argue that the path-integral optimization corresponds to the maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave function in gravity on a Euclidean AdS background. Our construction will be based on generalized Hartle-Hawking wave functions that require imposing a specific boundary condition on the asymptotic boundary of AdS, dual to a specific CFT state. This maximization naturally arises in the saddle point approximation when we calculate physical observables using the Hartle-Hawking wave function. From this perspective, we can also understand how to generalize the path-integral optimization to a quantum regime beyond the semi-classical approximation.

The arguments below will not only explain the origin of the optimization procedure from the viewpoint of the AdS/CFT but also shed new light on several interesting directions in the path-integral optimization program. Firstly, the Hartle-Hawking wave function method works well in higher dimensions and we use it to extract information about the "correct" path-integral optimization in any dimensions. Secondly, we extend the analysis to Lorentzian signature including both Anti de-Sitter and de-Sitter spacetimes. This is a starting point for exploring holography in general spacetimes using gravitational pathintegrals. Finally, in Euclidean as well as Lorentzian setups, we propose a natural definition

 $^{^{1}}$ A close connection between the computational complexity and the AdS/CFT already started from [39, 40].

of holographic counterpart of the path-integral complexity in terms of gravity action with the Hayward term. Below, we compute it in all examples and discuss some of its interesting properties.

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we give a review of path-integral optimization in two as well as in higher dimensions. In section 3, we provide a detailed derivation of path-integral optimization geometry from Hartle-Hawking wave function in AdS_{d+1} using Poincare coordinates, define the Euclidean holographic path-integral complexity and discuss a few important points of our proposal. In section 4 we analyze more examples in Euclidean AdS geometries and in section 5 we test our proposal in the context of JT gravity. In section 6 we study Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} and dS_{d+1} geometries where we derive Hartle-Hawking wave functions and use them as a guidance for Lorentzian path-integral optimization in CFT. In section 7, we discuss foliations of AdS and dS spacetimes by the slices that maximize Hartle-Hawking wave functions and leave several technical details into appendices.

2 Review of the path-integral optimization

We start with a brief review of the path-integral optimization [37, 38] that provides a framework for constructing continuous tensor networks for CFT wave functions. We will discuss only some of its important properties and new insights that will be particularly relevant for the holographic interpretation in later sections (see also [27, 41–43] for more details of the formalism). We will separately discuss CFTs in two and in higher dimensions.

2.1 Two-dimensional CFTs

The main idea of the path-integral optimization is as follows. We start with a twodimensional CFTs on the Euclidean plane \mathbb{R}^2 with coordinates (τ, x) and denote all the fields in the CFT by $\Phi(\tau, x)$. The ground state wave function $\Psi_{\text{CFT}}[\Phi(x)]$ of the CFT, that is formally a functional of the boundary conditions imposed for the CFT fields at the time slice $\tau = 0$: $\Phi(x) \equiv \Phi(x, \tau = 0)$, is defined by the Euclidean path-integral as

$$\Psi_{\rm CFT}[\Phi(x)] = \int \prod_{-\infty < \tau \le 0, x} [D\tilde{\Phi}(\tau, x)] e^{-S_{\rm CFT}[\tilde{\Phi}]} \delta(\tilde{\Phi}(0, x) - \Phi(x)), \qquad (2.1)$$

where S_{CFT} is the Euclidean action of the 2d CFT under consideration.

This exact definition of the wave functions is usually only a formal expression and can be rarely used to derive the state beyond free CFTs. On the other hand, this pathintegral representation contains all the information about the state, including AdS dual geometry for holographic CFTs, structure of entanglement, as well as data required to estimate state's complexity. The main problem is to extract this information directly from the path-integral. The path-integral optimization is then an attempt to solve this problem and, in particular, to extract information about holographic dual geometry and complexity from the path-integral representation of CFT states. The key step in the path-integral optimization is to deform the metric on the twodimensional Euclidean plane on which we perform the path-integral in the following way

$$ds^{2} = e^{2\phi(\tau,x)}(d\tau^{2} + dx^{2}).$$
(2.2)

Then, the original path-integral computing $\Psi_{\text{CFT}}[\Phi(x)]$ is evaluated on a flat \mathbb{R}^2 metric with $e^{2\phi(\tau,x)} = 1/\epsilon^2$, where ϵ is a UV regularization scale (i.e. lattice constant) introduced once we discretize path-integrals of quantum fields into those on a lattice. On the other hand, general Weyl factors $e^{2\phi(\tau,x)}$ can be interpreted as a position-dependent choices of the lattice discretization. For this interpretation we need to impose an extra rule, namely, that there is a single lattice site per unit area. This way we can relate a given metric to a (non-unitary) tensor network, which is a discretization of Euclidean path-integral, and volume of the above geometry to the number of tensors.

Next, let us write the wave function obtained from the path-integral on the curved space with metric (2.2) as $\Psi_{CFT}^{\phi}[\Phi(x)]$. If we impose the boundary condition

$$e^{2\phi(0,x)} = \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \equiv e^{2\phi_0},$$
 (2.3)

then this wave function is proportional to the original one $\Psi_{\text{CFT}}[\Phi(x)](=\Psi_{\text{CFT}}^{\phi_0}[\Phi(x)])$ computed by path-integral on flat space \mathbb{R}^2 . The reason for this is that CFTs are invariant under Weyl rescalings up to the Weyl anomaly, so we have

$$\Psi_{\rm CFT}^{\phi}[\Phi(x)] = e^{S_L^{(e)}[\phi] - S_L^{(e)}[\phi_0]} \cdot \Psi_{\rm CFT}^{\phi_0}[\Phi(x)], \qquad (2.4)$$

where the functional in the exponent $S_L^{(e)}[\phi]$ is the Liouville action on a Euclidean flat space [44]

$$S_L^{(e)}[\phi] = \frac{c}{24\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \int_{-\infty}^{0} d\tau \left[(\partial_x \phi)^2 + (\partial_\tau \phi)^2 + \mu e^{2\phi} \right].$$
(2.5)

Notice that Liouville action universally depends on the number of degrees of freedom denoted by the central charge c of the 2d CFT that appears as a pre-factor. From the relation (2.4), we see that the quantum state still remains the same CFT vacuum $|0\rangle$ for any choice of the metric (2.2) as long as the boundary condition (2.3) at $\tau = 0$ is satisfied. Moreover, the assumption about the discretization, i.e. that one unit area of the metric (2.2) corresponds to a single lattice site, fixes the value of the "cosmological constant" μ to $\mu = 1$ as in [37, 38]. Nevertheless, we will keep this constant parameter for later convenience and will also provide an interpretation for $\mu \neq 1$ in the gravity dual setup.

One way to derive the Liouville action is to examine the expectation value of the trace of energy stress tensor in CFT, which is given by (we write $i = \tau, x$)

$$\langle T_i^i \rangle = -\frac{c}{12\pi} \partial_i \partial^i \phi + \mu_0 e^{2\phi}.$$
 (2.6)

The first term is proportional to the Ricci scalar curvature and describes the Weyl anomaly that is universal for 2d CFTs. The second term simply comes from the UV divergence (see e.g. appendix A). Since the expectation value of the trace T_i^i is the derivative of

the partition function with respect to the Weyl scaling factor ϕ , we can reproduce (2.5) with setting $\mu = 12\pi\mu_0/c$. Note that here, we are interested in the bare action (before renormalization) such as the Liouville function $S_L^{(e)}[\phi]$. Indeed, the Liouville potential term gets quadratically divergent as $e^{2\phi} \sim \epsilon^{-2}$. Nevertheless, we keep it and, as we will momentarily see, it plays an important role in the path-integral optimization story. Finally, since the Liouville potential term in (2.5) arises from the UV divergence, it should dominate over the kinetic term when we take the UV limit $\epsilon \to 0$. This condition is satisfied when

$$(\partial_i \phi)^2 \ll e^{2\phi} \quad (i = x, \tau). \tag{2.7}$$

We will come back to this limit in the gravitational construction in later sections.

Next, we describe how the optimal metrics for Euclidean path-integrals are chosen. The basic strategy of path-integral optimization is to coarse-grain the discretization of path-integral as much as possible, such that e.g. the cost of numerical computation of path-integral is minimal, while keeping the final boundary condition that specifies the correct wave function fixed. For this we need a measure of computational cost of a path-integration i.e. an estimate of its computational complexity. In the original path-integral optimization, the actual Liouville action $S_L^{(e)}[\phi]$ (with $\mu = 1$) was proposed as the complexity functional [37, 38], which should be minimized in the optimization procedure. This was motivated by the minimization of the overall factor of the wave function, which is proportional to $e^{S_L^{(e)}[\phi]}$ as in (2.4). Although, as usually, the overall factor does not affect physical quantities in quantum mechanics, this quantity can be interpreted as a measure of the number of repetitions of numerical integrals when we discretise path-integrals into lattice calculations.²

It was shown [37, 38] that such optimization (minimization) procedure properly selects the most efficient discretization of path-integral which produces the correct vacuum state. More precisely, the minimization of $S_L^{(e)}[\phi]$ is achieved by solving the Liouville equation

$$(\partial_x^2 + \partial_\tau^2)\phi = \mu e^{2\phi}, \qquad (2.8)$$

which is equivalent to the condition for constant negative (hyperbolic) Ricci scalar of the 2-dimensional metric (2.2)

$$R = -2\mu. \tag{2.9}$$

Recall that this conclusion is a consequence of the fact that we work with the bare Liouville action with the potential term ($\mu \neq 0$).

The most general solution of this equation is given in terms of two functions: A(w) and $B(\bar{w})$, of $w = \tau + ix$ and its complex conjugate $\bar{w} = \tau - ix$ as

$$e^{2\phi} = \frac{4A'(w)B'(\bar{w})}{\mu(1 - A(w)B(\bar{w}))^2}.$$
(2.10)

For example, for the path-integral preparing the vacuum state of the CFT on a line, with the boundary condition (2.3), the minimization leads to the solution

$$e^{2\phi(\tau,x)} = \frac{1}{(\sqrt{\mu}\tau - \epsilon)^2}, \quad (-\infty < \tau \le 0).$$
 (2.11)

²Remember that our choice of lattice regularization is specified by the metric (2.2).

We regard the solution with $\mu = 1$ as the genuine optimized metric, which minimized the original Liouville action (remember we set $\mu = 1$ for our complexity functional [37, 38]). In addition, in this work, we propose to interpret solutions with $\mu < 1$, for which the metric gets larger than the original with $\mu = 1$, as only partially optimized where the UV cut-off length scale is taken to be larger. On the other hand, solutions with $\mu > 1$, for which the metric is smaller than the original with $\mu = 1$, intuitively, correspond to fine-graining the cut-off scale more than the current lattice spacing (i.e. ϵ). We would like to suggest that these solutions with $\mu > 1$ may not be allowed. One of the arguments is that, as μ gets larger, the coarse-graining gets too fast (i.e. the curvature R is "too big") to maintain the Weyl invariance which is only guaranteed in the continuum limit and which leads to our basic equivalence relation (2.4).

The observation that (2.11) coincides with the time slice of a three-dimensional AdS (AdS_3) [37, 38], offered the main implication that the path-integral optimization, as a version of continuous tensor-network, can explain the emergence of the AdS geometry purely from CFT. Indeed, the discretized path-integral can be regarded as a (non-unitary) tensor network and its relation to AdS provides a path-integral version of the conjectured interpretation of AdS/CFT as a tensor network. Moreover, as a product of the above procedure, the Liouville action $S_L^{(e)}[\phi]$ (the "path-integral complexity" [37, 38]) became the first workable definition of computational complexity in continuous, interacting CFTs, that could be computed in genuinely holographic models [39, 40] (refer also to [45–49] for further remarkable connections between path-integral and circuit complexities). This method has been further generalized to various CFTs and QFTs (see e.g. [42, 43, 50–56]) and also used to successfully compute entanglement of purification in 2d CFTs [57], which was recently verified numerically in [58].

Nevertheless, despite this emergence of hyperbolic geometries, a direct relation between the path-integral optimization and AdS/CFT has remained an open problem. Moreover, it has not been clear how to promote the classical Liouville theory which appeared in the path-integral optimization to the quantum regime. The need for that was found in [37, 38] where, in order reproduce the correct gravity metric dual to a primary state with 1/ccorrections, one would have to replace a classical Liouville result with a quantum one. The main problem with "quantum" path-integral optimization is that integral $\int [D\phi] e^{S_L^{(e)}[\phi]}$, which is expected to arise from (2.4) in the quantized version, does not make sense as it is not bounded from below. Indeed, the standard quantum Liouville is defined by the pathintegral $\int [D\phi] e^{-S_L^{(e)}[\phi]}$, but it has not been clear how such well-defined expression arises from the above optimization. In other words, we cannot get the minimization as a saddle point approximation of path-integrals and its derivation within the AdS/CFT may appear too challenging. As we will see, the new approach [1] further developed in this paper will naturally resolve these two problems in the light of Hartle-Hawking wave functions.

Last but not least, we would like to point an important subtlety that, in the solution (2.11), $(\partial_i \phi)^2$ and $e^{2\phi}$ are of the same order, so the UV criterion (2.7) is not satisfied. This actually implies that the path-integral optimization using the Liouville action is only qualitative. Indeed, its derivation (2.6) involves the continuum limit and, generally, we expect finite cut-off corrections to the Liouville action. As we will see later, the gravity approach will naturally come with such corrections.

2.2 Higher-dimensional CFTs

In higher dimensions, the status of path-integral optimization is still not entirely clear. At least in even dimensions, it is tempting to follow the intuition from the Liouville action that, as discussed above, can be defined as integrated anomaly. For example in four dimensions, this would lead us to the so-called *Q*-curvature actions (see e.g. [59]) that naturally generalises the Polyakov action from 2d. However, such actions, even though very interesting, are genuinely higher order in derivatives (or the curvature) and less intuitive from the tensor-network perspective. Instead, in [37, 38], we proposed a phenomenological generalisation to an "effective" path-integral complexity action for higher-dimensional CFTs in the form

$$I[\phi, \hat{g}] = N \int_{\Sigma} d^{d}x \sqrt{\hat{g}} \left[e^{(d-2)\phi} \hat{g}^{ab} \partial_{a}\phi \partial_{b}\phi + \frac{e^{(d-2)\phi}}{(d-1)(d-2)} R_{\hat{g}} + \mu e^{d\phi} \right],$$
(2.12)

where $R_{\hat{g}}$ is the Ricci scalar for the reference metric \hat{g} and the normalization

$$N = \frac{d-1}{16\pi G_N},$$
 (2.13)

was fixed in order to reproduce entanglement entropy for spherical regions [37, 38].

We have argued that path-integral complexity computed by (2.12), as well as improved Liouville complexity³ are good relative measures of complexity between two continuous tensor networks described by metrics g_1 and g_2 . Moreover, both of these complexity actions satisfy the so-called "co-cycle conditions" in terms of three metrics

$$I[g_1, g_2] = -I[g_2, g_1], \qquad I[g_1, g_2] + I[g_2, g_3] = I[g_1, g_3].$$
(2.14)

Interestingly, from the above properties it is clear that $I[g_1, g_2]$ can be negative (unlike measures of complexity based on e.g. distance in the Hilbert space).

One more comment we should make at this point is that in (2.12) we generalized the action from [37, 38] by including coupling μ in front of the potential. To get a better intuition regarding this action and the meaning of μ , let us now rewrite it in a more transparent way. Namely, consider a general *d*-dimensional metric of the form

$$ds^2 = e^{2\phi} \hat{g}_{ab} dx^a dx^b, \qquad (2.15)$$

and its Ricci scalar curvature given by

$$R^{(d)} = e^{-2\phi} (R_{\hat{g}} - 2(d-1)\hat{\Box}\phi - (d-2)(d-1)\hat{g}^{ab}\partial_a\phi\partial_b\phi).$$
(2.16)

We can check that, after integrating $\Box \phi$ by parts, (2.12) can be actually rewritten as

$$I[\phi, \hat{g}] = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N^{(d)}(d-2)} \int d^d x \sqrt{g} \left[R^{(d)} - 2\Lambda^{(d)} \mu \right], \qquad (2.17)$$

³with the volume term subtracted.

where

$$\Lambda^{(d)} = -\frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{2}.$$
(2.18)

This is obviously the Einstein-Hilbert action with negative cosmological constant $\Lambda^{(d)}\mu$ in ddimensions, i.e. the same number of dimensions as the CFT. Comparing with the standard gravity action, μ plays the role of the AdS radius $1/l^2$ that sits in the denominator of the cosmological constant. Let us stress that this resemblance is only at the formal level and our effective complexity action, by generalizing the Liouville action, was aimed to describe the geometry of the continuous tensor networks from path-integrals. Derivation of this action from the optimization procedure in CFTs is still an open problem. Nevertheless, the holographic approach [1], in principle, provides the full answer to the correct path-integral complexity functional (including finite cut-off corrections) in higher dimensions and will reproduce and justify (2.12) in the UV limit.

Setting aside the CFT derivation for the moment, this form of the action has obvious consequences for optimal path-integral geometries. Clearly, by varying the action with respect to ϕ we end up with the trace of Einstein's equations in *d*-dimensions

$$\left(R_{ab}^{(d)} - \frac{1}{2}R^{(d)}g_{ab} + \Lambda^{(d)}\mu g_{ab}\right)g^{ab}\delta\phi = 0,$$
(2.19)

which is of course equivalent to the constant negative Ricci curvature condition

$$R^{(d)} = -d(d-1)\mu = 2\Lambda^{(d+1)}\mu.$$
(2.20)

This provides a generalization of the optimization constraint for the path-integral geometries (Liouville equation in 2d) to higher dimensions.

It is also interesting to see that the negative cosmological constant that appears on the right hand side of this equation is d+1-dimensional. As we will see later, this fact naturally comes from the Hamiltonian constraint in the gravity proposal. Finally, the parameter μ that fixes the value of the curvature will also find a holographic counterpart in terms of tension T in the Hartle-Hawking construction. After this review, we can proceed with the gravity dual description.

3 Optimization from Hartle-Hawking wave functions

In this section we begin by explaining the construction reported in a short article [1], then we solve the vacuum example in detail and discuss various subtleties and properties of this new proposal. Our goal is to understand the path-integral optimization procedure, reviewed above, in holographic CFTs that are equivalently described by gravity in the onedimension higher Anti-de Sitter spacetime [2]. This correspondence, or the AdS/CFT for short, usually involves super-conformal field theories and string theory or supergravity in AdS, however, in this work, we will limit the discussion to large-N conformal field theories and the pure gravity sector.



Figure 1. The on-shell action in the shaded region M computes the Hartle-Hawking wave function, related to the path-integral optimization for holographic CFTs.

3.1 Definition of Hartle-Hawking wave functions

In what follows, we proceed with the analysis of the vacuum of a CFT on \mathbb{R}^d that, on the gravity side, corresponds to Euclidean Poincare AdS_{d+1} geometry⁴

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} + d\tau^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} dx_{i}^{2}}{z^{2}}.$$
(3.1)

In this geometry, we focus on the shaded region M in figure 1 between surfaces Σ and Q in the bulk of AdS. In this region, we will be interested in a gravitational "Hartle-Hawking" wave function [60],⁵ denoted by $\Psi_{HH}[g_{ab}]$, which is a functional of the induced metric g_{ab} on Q. More precisely, we consider a path-integral of Euclidean gravity from the asymptotic boundary Σ of AdS, described by the cut-off surface $z = \epsilon$ with $\tau < 0$, up to the surface Q, specified by $z = f(\tau)$ that extends from $z = \epsilon$ and $\tau = 0$ (where it meets Σ at an angle θ_0) towards the bulk as depicted in figure 1.

Note that, for simplicity, we focus on translationally-invariant surfaces Q. Moreover, we assume the following form of the metric on Q

$$ds^{2} = e^{2\phi(w)} \left(dw^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} dx_{i}^{2} \right),$$
(3.2)

where $-\infty < w < 0$ (that is a function of τ) renders the induced metric on Q conformally flat.⁶ In this setup, we now define the Hartle-Hawking wave function $\Psi_{HH}[\phi]$ as follows

$$\Psi_{HH}[\phi] = \int [Dg_{\mu\nu}] e^{-I_G[g]} \delta(g_{ab}|_Q - e^{2\phi} \delta_{ab}), \qquad (3.3)$$

⁴In Euclidean examples we will set the AdS radius to l = 1.

⁵See e.g. [61, 62] for previous important applications of gravity wave functions in the AdS/CFT correspondence.

⁶Note that the above construction assumes that a gravity solution which calculates the Hartle-Hawking wave function, is given by a sub-region in the Poincare AdS. The metric (3.2) obtained in this way covers all possible metrics on Q for d = 2 with the condition (2.3) because all solutions to the vacuum Einstein equation are locally equivalent to the Poincare AdS_3 . However, for d > 2, the above construction covers only a sub-class of the metrics on the *d*-dimensional surface Q. Nevertheless, as we will see below, this ansatz includes a large class of metrics of our direct interest. More generally, we can extend target metrics to completely general ones by directly solving the Einstein's equations.

where $I_G[g]$ is the d + 1-dimensional Einstein-Hilbert action with negative cosmological constant Λ and the Gibbons-Hawking boundary term

$$I_G = -\frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int_M \sqrt{g} (R - 2\Lambda) - \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{Q \cup \Sigma} \sqrt{h} K, \qquad (3.4)$$

where we also denoted $\kappa^2 = 8\pi G_N$.⁷ More generally, as we will see below, one should also carefully add a Hayward term in regions with non-smooth boundaries like our M above.

Cautious reader will notice that we also (implicitly) imposed an initial condition (i.e. fixed the metric) on Σ that corresponds to the pure AdS dual to the CFT vacuum. In principle, we can consider more general boundary conditions on Σ as well as $\Psi_{HH}[\phi(w, x)]$ corresponding to excited states of a CFT (see following sections).

Given this definition, we are now ready to make the connection with the CFT pathintegral optimization. Namely, the key step of the proposal [1] is to identify the metric (3.2) on Q as the "holographic dual" of the metric (2.2) in the path-integral optimization for holographic CFTs. Moreover, we propose that the gravity dual of the optimization procedure corresponds to the maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave function $\Psi_{HH}[\phi]$ with respect to ϕ (more generally, with respect to the metric on Q). This maximization arises naturally when we evaluate e.g. generic gravity correlation functions using the Hartle-Hawking wave functional

$$\langle O_1 O_2 \dots \rangle = \int [D\phi] |\Psi_{HH}[\phi]|^2 O_1 O_2 \dots, \qquad (3.5)$$

by applying the saddle point approximation.⁸ The main advantage of this dual description is that the maximization of Hartle-Hawking wave function works well even in the presence of quantum fluctuations of ϕ , as opposed to the minimization of $e^{S_L^{(e)}[\phi]}$ as discussed before. Indeed, we will compute explicitly in the next section that $\Psi_{HH}[\phi]$ is proportional to $e^{-S_L^{(e)}[\phi]}$ up to finite cut-off corrections.

As we already mentioned, in this work, we will be able to discuss a generalization of the path-integral optimization based on the Liouville action (and its higher dimensional version (2.12)) with a non-trivial coefficient μ of the exponential potential. For this new construction, on the gravity side, it will be useful to introduce a tension term on the surface Q, which also plays an important role in the AdS/BCFT [63, 64] (we assume T < 0 below)

$$I_T[h] = \frac{T}{\kappa^2} \int_Q \sqrt{h}.$$
(3.6)

This allows us to define a one-parameter family of "deformed" Hartle-Hawking wave functions in the following way

$$\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi] = \int [Dg_{\mu\nu}] e^{-I_G[g] - I_T[e^{2\phi}]} \,\delta(g_{ab}|_Q - e^{2\phi}\delta_{ab}). \tag{3.7}$$

⁷One of the defining features of the Hartle-Hawking wave functions in canonical quantum gravity is the fact that they solve the Wheeler-de Witt equation, i.e. the quantum Hamiltonian constraint. In this work we will be mostly concerned with the semi-classical regime and will not worry about subtleties of the quantum definition of (3.3) such as e.g. sum over topologies etc.

⁸In fact, in AdS/CFT, this computation could also naturally appear in the correlator of local bulk operators where operators O_i would be related to the CFT ones by the standard HKLL prescription.

The standard Hartle-Hawking wave functions are obtained by setting T = 0. We can regard T as a chemical potential or the Legendre transformation for the area of Q, acting on Hartle-Hawking wave functions. As we will see, the tension term in gravity will be responsible for shifting the value of the cosmological constant μ in the Liouville action.⁹ More importantly, since the maximum of $\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi]$ will correspond to a family of surfaces Q in AdS parameterized by the tension T, we will observe that T plays the role of an emergent holographic time.

3.2 Evaluation of $\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi]$

Computation of the wave function (3.7) in full quantum gravity is clearly beyond the present technology but we can nevertheless make progress using saddle point analysis. In the remaining discussions we will focus on evaluating $\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi]$ using the semi-classical approximation i.e. as an on-shell gravity action with tension term added

$$\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi] \simeq e^{-I_G[g] - I_T[h]}|_{\text{on-shell}},$$
(3.8)

in region M. In this limit, the evaluation of the Hartle-Hawking wave function boils down to a standard computation from the AdS/BCFT, of a classical gravity action in a portion of AdS_{d+1} up to an end-of-the-world brane Q with tension T. However, the important technical assumption in this computation will be the fact that the (fictitious) "brane" that describes surface Q does not back-react on the bulk geometry. This allows us to evaluate the wave function using the Poincare AdS metric (3.1) in a tractable way. This assumption is sufficient to find solutions whose metrics take the conformally flat form (3.2). For more general metrics we may need to solve the back-reactions in the presence of the brane, which is also a well-defined problem.

Let us now compute the gravity action step by step. First, since we are using the on-shell solution of Einstein's equations (3.1), we have $R - 2\Lambda = -2d$ and the bulk action contributes

$$-\frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int_M d^{d+1}x \sqrt{g} \left(R - 2\Lambda\right) = \frac{d}{\kappa^2} \int d^{d-1}x \int d\tau \int_{\epsilon}^{f(\tau)} \frac{dz}{z^{d+1}},$$
$$= \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \left(\frac{L_\tau}{\epsilon^d} - \int \frac{d\tau}{f(\tau)^d}\right), \tag{3.9}$$

where we denoted the divergent volumes and the length of τ direction as

$$V_x \equiv \int d^{d-1}x, \qquad L_\tau \equiv \int_{-\infty}^0 d\tau. \tag{3.10}$$

Clearly, the bulk action not only gives rise to a divergent part from the UV limit but also contributes a part with $f(\tau)$ to the effective action that will describe metric on Q. Moreover, notice that the bulk action vanishes when we take $Q \to \Sigma$ i.e. $f(\tau) = \epsilon$.

⁹Later, we will set T = 0 while evaluating the holographic path-integral complexity. Adding T should then be thought of as just a trick for selecting partially optimized configurations as solutions to the problem of maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave functions.

Next, from the UV boundary surface $\Sigma : z = \epsilon$ with normal $n^{\mu} = -z\delta^{\mu z}$, we have $K|_{\Sigma} = d$, and the contribution from the Gibbons-Hawking term

$$-\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\Sigma} d^d x \sqrt{h} K|_{\Sigma} = -\frac{d}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_\tau}{\epsilon^d}.$$
(3.11)

Finally, we carefully evaluate the contribution from Q, specified by function $z = f(\tau)$. Firstly, the induced metric on Q is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{(1+f'^{2})d\tau^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}}{f^{2}} \equiv e^{2\phi(w)} \left(dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}\right), \qquad (3.12)$$

where in the second step we defined

$$e^{2\phi} \equiv \frac{1}{f^2},\tag{3.13}$$

and, to make the metric diagonal, we introduced "conformal" coordinate w with the range $-\infty < w < 0$, satisfying

$$\frac{dw}{d\tau} = \sqrt{1 + f^{2}} = \left(1 - \dot{f}^{2}\right)^{-1/2}.$$
(3.14)

We also introduced a short-hand notation $f' = f'(\tau) = \partial_{\tau} f(\tau)$, $\dot{f} = \dot{f}(w) = \partial_w f(w)$ and the relation $f'(\tau) = w'(\tau)\partial_w f(w) = w'(\tau)\dot{f}$ was used to solve for the second relation. In order to rewrite formulas in terms of w coordinate, we will later use iteratively $f''(\tau) = w'(\tau)\partial_w f'(\tau)$ and from the definition

$$\dot{f} = -e^{-\phi(w)}\dot{\phi}(w), \qquad \ddot{f} = -e^{-\phi(w)}\left(\ddot{\phi}(w) - \dot{\phi}(w)^2\right).$$
 (3.15)

Secondly, we can compute extrinsic curvature and its trace on Q. With coordinates on Q: $y^i = \{\tau, x^a\}$, and projectors

$$e_i^{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial x^{\alpha}}{\partial y^i}, \qquad e_{\tau}^{\alpha} = \{1, \vec{0}, f'(\tau)\}, \qquad e_{x^a}^{\alpha} = \delta_a^{\alpha}, \tag{3.16}$$

as well as the outward-pointing normal vector

$$n^{\mu} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{1 + f'(\tau)^2}} \left\{ -f'(\tau), \vec{0}, 1 \right\},$$
(3.17)

we can compute the components of the extrinsic curvature

$$K_{ij} = e_i^{\alpha} e_j^{\beta} \nabla_{\alpha} n_{\beta}.$$
(3.18)

Expressed in terms of $f(\tau)$ they read

$$K_{\tau\tau} = -\frac{1 + f'(\tau)^2 + f(\tau)f''(\tau)}{f(\tau)^2\sqrt{1 + f'(\tau)^2}}, \qquad K_{\tau a} = 0,$$

$$K_{ab} = -\frac{1}{f(\tau)^2\sqrt{1 + f'(\tau)^2}}\delta_{ab}, \qquad (3.19)$$

and after taking the trace we obtain

$$K|_Q = -\frac{f(\tau)f''(\tau) + d(1 + f'(\tau)^2)}{(1 + f'(\tau)^2)^{3/2}}.$$
(3.20)

Note here that when $Q \to \Sigma$ $(f(\tau) \to \epsilon)$, $K|_Q$ has the opposite sign to $K|_{\Sigma}$ hence, by construction, the sum of the two Gibbons-Hawking terms also vanishes when $Q \to \Sigma$. We will use this fact in discussion on holographic path-integral complexity.

Then, using relations between τ and w, we can write (3.20) in terms of $\phi(w)$ as

$$K|_{Q} = \frac{e^{-2\phi} \left(\ddot{\phi} + (d-1)\dot{\phi}^{2}\right) - d}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^{2}}}.$$
(3.21)

Putting all these ingredients together, we have the on-shell gravity action with the tension term expressed in terms of $f(\tau)$

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{d-1}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_\tau}{\epsilon^d} - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int \frac{d\tau}{f^d} w'(\tau) \left[K|_Q + \frac{1}{w'(\tau)} - T \right],$$
 (3.22)

with $w'(\tau)$ given by the first relation in (3.14) and $K|_Q$ given by (3.20).

We can also rewrite this action in terms of w and $\phi(w)$ field as

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{d-1}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_\tau}{\epsilon^d} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int dw \, e^{d\phi} \left[\frac{d-1 - e^{-2\phi} \left(\ddot{\phi} + (d-2)\dot{\phi}^2\right)}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^2}} + T \right]. \quad (3.23)$$

Furthermore, we can integrate by parts and rewrite this action as first-order in derivatives

$$I_{G} + I_{T} = -\frac{(d-1)V_{x}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d}} + \frac{(d-1)V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}}\int dw e^{d\phi}G(\dot{\phi}) + \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}}\int dw e^{d\phi}T - \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}}\left[e^{(d-1)\phi}\arcsin(\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi})\right]_{-\infty}^{0},$$
(3.24)

where G is the following function bounded from below

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^2} + \dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}\arcsin(\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}).$$
 (3.25)

This is our main result in this subsection and a general algorithm for computing the Hartle-Hawking wave functions semi-classically. In order to derive it, it was crucial that we treated Q with tension T as a probe in Poincare AdS_{d+1} . With this action, we are now ready to maximize the semi-classical wave function (3.8).

3.3 Maximization

The next step in our procedure is to maximize the Hartle-Hawking wave function (3.8) by choosing the appropriate metric on Q. This step should be understood as the gravity counterpart of the path-integral optimization on the CFT side and we will justify this

claim below. The maximization condition is obtained by taking a variation of the on-shell action (3.24) with respect to ϕ , leading to

$$\frac{e^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + (d-1)\dot{\phi}^2) - d}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^2}} = \frac{d}{d-1}T.$$
(3.26)

Comparing with (3.21), we find that the left-hand side is given by $K|_Q$, therefore (3.26) becomes

$$K|_Q = \frac{d}{d-1}T.$$
(3.27)

In other words, the maximization implies that Q should be a constant mean-curvature (CMC) slice of the AdS_{d+1} metric (3.1) dual to the CFT vacuum.

More generally, the maximization procedure requires variation of the on-shell gravity action with tension term with respect to the induced metric h_{ij} on Q. On general grounds this gives

$$(K_{ij} - Kh_{ij} + Th_{ij})\delta h^{ij} = 0, (3.28)$$

i.e. the Neumann boundary condition on Q. In the "conformal" gauge and with $\phi(w)$ being the only component of the metric, this variation is proportional to the metric itself and gives the trace of the Neumann condition (3.27). We will see explicitly below that our metrics will solve (3.27) as well as all the components of (3.28) so the maximization procedure is equivalent to imposing the full Neumann boundary condition on Q

$$K_{ij} - Kh_{ij} = -Th_{ij}, (3.29)$$

which is also usually imposed in the standard AdS/BCFT construction [63, 64]. See more in appendix B.

Now, by definition, $f(w = 0) = \epsilon$ (see figure 1), and we search for solutions of (3.26) with the boundary condition

$$e^{2\phi}|_{w=0} = \frac{1}{f^2(w=0)} = \frac{1}{\epsilon^2}.$$
 (3.30)

This condition also matches the two metrics, the one on Q and the one on Σ , at the corner $\tau = w = 0$ where the two surfaces meet. The relevant solutions can be found when T < 0 and we derive

$$e^{2\phi} = \frac{1}{f^2(w)} = \frac{1}{\left(-\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}}w + \epsilon\right)^2}.$$
(3.31)

Note that for T = 0, metric (3.31), in the "conformal coordinate" w, precisely matches the CFT metric from the path-integral optimization (2.11) written in τ with $\mu = 1$. Identifying the two solutions for all values of the parameters suggests the dictionary between the two parameters

$$\mu = 1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2},\tag{3.32}$$

and we will elaborate on it below and check it in all the Euclidean examples.



Figure 2. Solutions (3.34) are half planes interpolating between the boundary at T = -(d-1)/land the $\tau = 0$ slice for T = 0 (in the text we used l = 1). The inner angle θ_0 is related to Θ and Tvia (3.35).

By definition, our solution ϕ determines function $f(\tau)$. Indeed using (3.14) we can rewrite (3.31) in terms of the original coordinate τ that from integrating (3.14) is given by

$$\tau = \frac{|T|}{d-1}w,\tag{3.33}$$

so that surface Q is parametrized by

$$z = f(\tau) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}} \frac{(d-1)}{T} \tau + \epsilon.$$
(3.34)

Surfaces Q that maximize Hartle-Hawking wave functions, shown on figure 2, are then half-planes that interpolate between $z = \epsilon$ at T = -(d-1) and the constant time-slice of AdS_{d+1} for T = 0 given by $\tau(z) = 0$.

The tension parameter T is naturally related to the angle between Σ and Q. More precisely, we have

$$\cos\Theta = n_{\Sigma} \cdot n_Q|_{\tau=0} = \frac{T}{d-1}, \qquad \sin\theta_0 = \sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}},$$
 (3.35)

where angle Θ is simply related to the inner angle θ_0 between Σ and Q by $\Theta = \pi - \theta_0$ (see figure 2). The allowed values of $\theta_0 \in [0, \pi/2]$ are reflected in the range of $T \in [-(d-1), 0]$.

If we recall our interpretation of parameter $0 < \mu \leq 1$ in the path-integral complexity action and take the relation (3.32), these gravity solutions provide an elegant geometrization of sub-optimal continuous tensor networks from the path-integral optimization. Indeed for $T \to -(d-1)$, surface $Q \to \Sigma$ represents the original, flat (most un-optimal) tensor network. On the other hand, for $T \to 0$ the $\tau = 0$ slice of the bulk corresponds to the fully optimized path-integral geometry with $\mu = 1$. All the CMC surfaces in between with $-(d-1) < T \leq 0$ naturally correspond to partially optimized path-integral tensor networks from the path-integral complexity action with $0 < \mu < 1$.

3.4 Holographic path-integral complexity

The important part of the CFT analysis was focused on the path-integral complexity actions as relative measures of computational complexity. Now, after the optimization we obtained a family of slices Q labeled by tension T and we argued that they interpolate between the boundary Σ and the optimal slice for T = 0. In this section we make this statement more quantitative and propose how to estimate complexity of these sub-optimal networks in the gravitational construction.

After what we have already discussed, it is natural to expect that the gravity action in region M is a good candidate for the relative measure of complexity between Σ and Q. However, the full story is slightly more involved. In order to prepare for our final quantity, let us then first evaluate the classical action (3.22) or (3.24) that computes the Hartle-Hawking wave function $\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi]$ on the solution (3.31). We can verify that the boundary term, part of the action with $G(\dot{\phi})$ and the tension term precisely cancel and we are only left with the divergent contribution

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{(d-1)V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d},$$
(3.36)

so the on-shell action with the tension term added is independent of the tension parameter T. This way, in order to measure computational complexity from the Hartle-Hawking wave function construction, we propose to consider the value of the action without the tension term added. This is natural since the role of the tension term is only to fix the intermediate slices and, by definition, it also doesn't contribute to the complexity of the $\tau = 0$ slice.

The on-shell action without the tension term is then evaluated as follows

$$I_G = -\frac{(d-1)V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \frac{|T|}{(d-1)\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}}} \frac{1}{\epsilon^{d-1}}.$$
(3.37)

Still, this is not the end of the story. Recall that for the correct variational principle, gravitational action in regions with non-smooth boundaries should be supplemented by the so-called Hayward term [65] defined as

$$I_H = -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int \sqrt{\gamma} (\Theta + \varphi_0), \qquad (3.38)$$

where as shown on figure 2, Θ is defined in terms of the normal vectors to the surfaces that meet at the corner (see (3.35)) and γ_{ij} is the induced metric on the corner. By adding φ_0 in (3.38) we wanted to stress that, from the point of view of the variational problem, any constant value of φ_0 works sensibly in this definition. In order to estimate the complexity of partially optimized slices, we will argue that the appropriate choice of φ_0 is given by $\varphi_0 = -\pi$, which leads to the following expression for the corner contribution

$$I'_H \equiv \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int \sqrt{\gamma} \,\theta_0,\tag{3.39}$$

that is determined entirely by the data in region M. We will refer to this term as "modified Hayward term" expressed by the inner angle θ_0 between Σ and Q.

A clear motivation for this way of fixing the ambiguity in the Hayward term comes in fact from the path-integral complexity. Namely, as we pointed in the careful derivation of the Hartle-Hawking wave functions, the gravity action (bulk as well as the two Gibbons-Hawking contributions) vanish in the limit of $Q \to \Sigma$. This is clearly a desired property of a relative complexity between metrics on Σ and Q. If we added the standard Hayward term to the gravitational action on M, since it vanishes only for smooth boundaries (in our setup $\theta_0 = \pi$) it would spoil this property. This way, in order to keep a well-defined variational principle in the cusped region M as well as have a sensible holographic definition of a relative complexity functional, we propose to fix the constant ambiguity in the Hayward term to $\varphi_0 = -\pi$ and use (3.39) in addition to the gravity action (3.37).

Finally, we propose to estimate the holographic path-integral complexity of the partially optimized network Q (relative to Σ) corresponding to the Euclidean Hartle-Hawking wave function with fixed value of the tension T as the sum of the contribution of the on-shell gravity action in region M (without the tension term) and the modified Hayward term¹⁰

$$\mathcal{C}_T^{(e)} \equiv I_G + I'_H. \tag{3.40}$$

In the following sections we will study this quantity in various explicit examples of Euclidean geometries. Interestingly, before going to any specific examples, we can verify that $C_T^{(e)}$ indeed satisfies the same co-cycle properties (2.14) as the CFT path-integral complexity (see appendix C).

Evaluating $\mathcal{C}_T^{(e)}$ in the vacuum example gives

$$\mathcal{C}_{T}^{(e)} = -\frac{(d-1)V_{x}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d}} + \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d-1}}(\theta_{0} + \cot\theta_{0}), \qquad (3.41)$$

where θ_0 and its relation to T is computed in (3.35). This shows that $C_T^{(e)}$ is indeed a monotonically decreasing function of θ_0 or equally of T. Thus, it is minimized when T = 0 ($\tau = 0$ slice), as expected from the optimization procedure. The minimal value is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_{T=0}^{(e)} = -\frac{(d-1)V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \frac{\pi}{2}.$$
(3.42)

Notice that the first negatively divergent term in (3.41) can be regarded as the subtraction of the complexity for the reference state before the optimization (i.e. $e^{\phi(w)} = 1/\epsilon$ at Σ).

Let us also point a subtlety that, by construction, (3.41) should vanish when $\theta_0 \to 0$ or equivalently $T \to -(d-1)$. This was clear from the definition of $C_T^{(e)}$ but after evaluating it on-shell (and doing the τ -integral) in order to reproduce this fact we should take a careful (formal) limit of

$$\theta_0 \to \cot^{-1}\left(\frac{(d-1)L_\tau}{\epsilon}\right), \qquad T \to \frac{-(d-1)}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{\epsilon^2}{(d-1)^2 L_\tau^2}}},$$
(3.43)

with $L_{\tau}/\epsilon \to \infty$.

This concludes our analysis of the holographic path-integral complexity from the Hartle-Hawking wave function and in section 4 we will provide further evidence and support for our definition in various Euclidean examples.

¹⁰In fact a similar definition was used before in [27] with the overall sign difference since it was evaluated in the bulk region up to the surface Q that represented a cut-off in that work.

3.5 Maximization and gravity Hamiltonian constraint

In this subsection we give further comments on the maximization procedure. In particular, we elaborate on the fact that path-integral geometries in CFT are found from the constant Ricci scalar constraint (e.g. Liouville equation) whereas surfaces Q are obtained from the Neumann boundary condition. We will see that it is in fact the gravity Hamiltonian constraint that elegantly connects the two procedures.

As we argued on general grounds, as in AdS/BCFT [63, 64], the maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave function is equivalent to imposing Neumann boundary condition on Q. We can check this explicitly using components of the extrinsic curvature tensor derived in (3.19). After writing (3.29) in components we get

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{1+f'(\tau)^2}} = -\frac{T}{d-1}, \quad -\frac{f(\tau)f''(\tau) + (d-1)(1+f'(\tau)^2)}{(1+f'(\tau)^2)^{3/2}}\delta_{ab} = T\delta_{ab},$$
(3.44)

or in terms of w and $\phi(w)$

$$\sqrt{1 - \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}} = -\frac{T}{d - 1}, \qquad \frac{e^{-2\phi} \left(\ddot{\phi} + (d - 2)\dot{\phi}^2\right) - (d - 1)}{\sqrt{1 - \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}}} \delta_{ab} = T\delta_{ab}. \tag{3.45}$$

Plugging (3.34) to the first and (3.31) to the second pair of constraints, we can verify that full Neumann boundary conditions are satisfied for T < 0 straightforwardly.¹¹ See also appendix B for more discussion on solving the Neumann boundary condition.

Given the induced metric on (3.12) with maximizing solution (3.31), we can compute the Ricci scalar curvature (intrinsic) of our bulk slices

$$R^{(d)} = e^{-2\phi} (-2(d-1)\partial_w^2 \phi - (d-2)(d-1)(\partial_w \phi)^2) = 2\Lambda^{(d+1)} \left(1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}\right), \quad (3.46)$$

where $\Lambda^{(d+1)} = -d(d-1)/2$. Clearly, slices Q have constant negative curvature parametrized by tension T. We will come back to this result momentarily and discuss the precise relation with the path-integral optimization geometries.

Before doing that, we can verify that this negative curvature gives yet another interpretation of the maximization procedure. In fact, we can check that, by definition, when we impose the Neumann boundary condition on Q, the extrinsic curvature tensor is proportional to the induced metric

$$K_{ij} = (K - T)h_{ij} = \frac{T}{d - 1}h_{ij}, \qquad (3.47)$$

$$\frac{2ff'' + d(1+f'^2)}{(1+f'^2)^2} = -\frac{T}{d-1}\frac{ff'' + d(1+f'^2)}{(1+f'^2)^{3/2}}.$$

We can easily check that (3.34) is a solution of this equation with T < 0.

¹¹Note that to find Q (i.e. $f(\tau)$) that maximizes the Hartle-Hawking wave function, we could also vary the action (3.22) with respect to $f(\tau)$ and get the constraint

where in the second equality we used (3.27). Consequently, on-shell, the following combination of the extrinsic curvature and the square of its trace becomes

$$K^{2} - K^{ij}K_{ij} = \frac{d}{d-1}T^{2}.$$
(3.48)

This is nothing but the left-hand side of the "Hamiltonian" constraint in pure gravity on AdS_{d+1}

$$K^2 - K^{ij}K_{ij} = R^{(d)} - 2\Lambda^{(d+1)}, aga{3.49}$$

where $\Lambda^{(d+1)}$ is the negative cosmological constant of AdS_{d+1} and $R^{(d)}$ is the Ricci scalar curvature of the induced metric on the gravity slice. Plugging (3.48), we can check that this constraint reproduces the Ricci scalar (3.46). This local Hamiltonian constraint is the contraction of the bulk Einstein's equation¹² that is satisfied from the beginning in our construction

$$n^{\mu}n^{\nu}\left(G_{\mu\nu} = -\Lambda^{(d+1)}g_{\mu\nu}\right), \qquad (3.50)$$

where $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the Einstein's tensor and n^{μ} are the normal vectors to an arbitrary slice of the bulk. Here, since the maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave functions leads to the Neumann boundary condition this constraint automatically implies that the Ricci scalar curvature of our slices is constant.

Recall that "Hamiltonian" constraint (3.49) in AdS/CFT usually refers to the "radial Hamiltonian" where K_{ij} and K are computed locally on some cut-off surface with Ricci scalar $R^{(d)}$. This constraint plays an important role in the recent developments on the relations between $T\bar{T}$ -deformations of holographic CFTs and finite cut-off gravity with Dirichlet boundary condition on the cut-off surface [67–69]. Imposing Dirichlet boundary condition for the gravity action with holographic counter-terms allows one to compute the holographic stress-tensor expressed by K_{ij} , its trace K and the counter-term contribution. Then, rewriting K_{ij} and K in (3.49) in terms of T_{ij} and T_i^i reproduces trace anomaly equation in a CFT deformed by the $T\bar{T}$ -operator with the coupling related to the finite-cut-off radius. This construction was recently generalized to $T\bar{T}$ deformations with time-dependent couplings [31] (see also [70] for discussion on the flow of quantum states under $T\bar{T}$ deformations that is relevant in our context) and studied from the perspective of holographic Tensor Networks as constant K slices of AdS. Interestingly, the explicit time-dependent "folding $T\bar{T}$ deformation" in CFTs, precisely corresponds to the bulk AdS geometry with time-dependent cut-off surfaces identical to the Q in (3.34). We hope that this intriguing connection will shed more light on the operational and circuit-type interpretation of the path-integral optimization and path-integral complexity and we leave it as an interesting future direction.

3.6 Boundary UV limit

Let us finally finish with more evidence for the holographic relation with field theory pathintegral optimization. Firstly, one striking feature of the proposal is that both metrics, Weyl flat metric from path-integral optimization (2.2) (in arbitrary dimensions) and induced

¹²This can be seen by using Gauss-Codazzi equation, see e.g. [66].

metric on Q that maximizes Hartle-Hawking wave function (3.2), are identical after we relate w and τ . Indeed, they have both constant negative Ricci scalars equal to

$$R^{(d)}|_{PI} = 2\Lambda^{(d+1)}\mu, \qquad R^{(d)}|_{HH} = 2\Lambda^{(d+1)}\left(1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}\right). \tag{3.51}$$

We will analyze various, non-trivial, examples below that confirm this observation. This again leads to the identification (3.32) between parameters in our proposals. Remember that changing μ from $\mu = 0$ to $\mu = 1$ means that we gradually increase the amount of optimization.¹³ In the gravity dual, this corresponds to changing the tension from T = -(d-1) to T = 0 which tilts the surface Q from the asymptotic boundary Σ to the time slice $\tau = 0$.

Secondly, the gravity construction with Hartle-Hawking wave function involves extremizing action (3.24), that can be thought of as the boundary (UV) action with infinite sum of finite cut-off corrections. Indeed we can write $G(\dot{\phi})$ as a series in $\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}$

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2k+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(2k-1)^2 \Gamma(k+1)} \,\dot{\phi}^{2k} e^{-2k\phi}.$$
(3.52)

In the UV limit, taking only the leading $\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}$ term, we end up

$$e^{d\phi}G(\dot{\phi}) = \frac{1}{2}e^{(d-2)\phi(w)}\dot{\phi}^2 + e^{d\phi} + O(\dot{\phi}^4), \qquad (3.53)$$

and the gravity action (without the tension term) becomes

$$I_{G}|_{\rm UV} \simeq \frac{(d-1)V_{x}}{2\kappa^{2}} \int dw \left[e^{(d-2)\phi(w)} \dot{\phi}^{2} + 2e^{d\phi} - 2\epsilon^{-d} + O(\dot{\phi}^{4}) \right] \\ -\frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}} \frac{\theta_{0}}{\epsilon^{d-1}},$$
(3.54)

where θ_0 is the value of $\arcsin(\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi})$ at w = 0. Interestingly, we can cancel θ_0 dependence by adding the "modified Hayward" term (3.39), localized on $\Sigma \cap Q$. This in fact will be true in all the Euclidean examples below. This is another argument for its important role in the holographic path-integral complexity. More importantly, (3.54) is precisely the (homogeneous) form of our conjectured action (2.12), therefore the construction with Hartle-Hawking wave function gives a strong justification of the higher dimensional conjecture.^{14,15}

¹³Let us also point that, from the perspective of complexity and gate counting [45], one could think about μ as a relative "penalty factor" between unitaries and isometries and we leave this alternative interpretation for future studies (see also [71]).

¹⁴Giving up the homogeneity assumption z = f(t) and taking $z = f(t, x_i)$ should reproduce the full action in the UV limit.

¹⁵Note that if we add the tension term I_T , the total action $I_G + I_T$ in the UV limit leads to a "UV relation": $\mu = 2 + \frac{2T}{d-1}$. We can regard the minimizing $I_G + I_T$ as a partial optimization and this corresponds the changing the cosmological constant μ . However notice that the genuine complexity functional, whose minimization gives the full optimization is obtained by removing the tension term.

Nevertheless, note that the gravity action (3.24) gives the correct holographic finite cut-off corrections to the UV Liouville action (as in (3.41)) and thus should be thought of as the full answer to the path-integral optimization program. Having said that, there is still a possibility that both complexity actions, the Liouville and the holographic path-integral complexity, even though apparently different and coming with their own regularization schemes, are actually equivalent. The fact that they lead to the same optimal geometries with constant Ricci scalars may suggest this however, we do not have any definite way to prove/disprove this possibility at the moment and leave it for future investigation.

4 More Euclidean examples

In the following sections we study more examples that will confirm our procedure in various Euclidean setups across dimensions. The algorithm for computing semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave functions using on-shell gravity action with tension (3.8) is straightforward and we will spare the details of the steps while only showing main results of analogous computations as we did for the vacuum case.

4.1 Global AdS_{d+1}

We start by analyzing the gravity dual of the vacuum of a CFT on a circle given by global AdS spacetime. We can perform similar analysis to what we did in Poincare coordinates starting now from the global AdS_{d+1} metric

$$ds^{2} = \left(1 + r^{2}\right)d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{1 + r^{2}} + r^{2} d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}, \qquad (4.1)$$

where Ω_{d-1} stands for the volume element of a (d-1)-sphere.

The region M in global coordinates is bounded by the cut-off surface Σ at $r = r_0 = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \to \infty$ and a homogeneous surface Q defined by $r = 1/f(\tau)$, so its induced metric can be written as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{f(\tau)^{2}} \left[\left(1 + f(\tau)^{2} + \frac{f'(\tau)^{2}}{1 + f(\tau)^{2}} \right) d\tau^{2} + d\Omega_{d-1}^{2} \right] = e^{2\phi(w)} \left(dw^{2} + d\Omega_{d-1}^{2} \right).$$
(4.2)

Again, in the second equality, we introduced coordinate $-\infty < w < 0$ and field $\phi(w)$ that render the induced metric on Q conformally flat

$$w'(\tau) = \sqrt{1 + f^2 + \frac{f'^2}{1 + f^2}} = \frac{1 + f^2}{\sqrt{1 + f^2 - \dot{f}^2}}, \qquad e^{2\phi} = \frac{1}{f^2}.$$
 (4.3)

The notation for f' and \dot{f} is the same as in Poincare coordinates (see below (3.14)).

Next, we evaluate the bulk Hartle-Hawking wave function semi-classically as the onshell bulk action with the tension term on Q (3.8). To compute the classical action, we will need the trace of the extrinsic curvature on Σ

$$K|_{\Sigma} = \frac{d + (d-1)\epsilon^2}{\sqrt{1+\epsilon^2}},$$
(4.4)

as well as for surface Q written in terms of $f(\tau)$

$$K|_Q = -\frac{1}{w'^3} \left[ff'' + \frac{f'^2((d-3)f^2 + d) + (1+f^2)^2(f^2(d-1) + d)}{(1+f^2)} \right],$$
(4.5)

or in terms of w of $\phi(w)$ as

$$K|_{Q} = \frac{e^{-2\phi} \left(\ddot{\phi} + (d-1)(\dot{\phi}^{2} - 1)\right) - d}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}(\dot{\phi}^{2} - 1)}}.$$
(4.6)

With these ingredients we can evaluate the gravity action with tension term and the answer becomes

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{(d-1)V_{\Omega}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} \left(1 + \epsilon^2\right) - \frac{V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^2} \int \frac{d\tau}{f^d} w'(\tau) \left[K|_Q - T + \frac{1}{w'(\tau)}\right],\tag{4.7}$$

where $w'(\tau)$ is given by the first equation in (4.3), $K|_Q$ by (4.5) and V_{Ω} is the volume of the (d-1) sphere.

Similarly, in terms of w and ϕ , after integrating by parts, we derive the main result for the global AdS_{d+1}

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{(d-1)V_{\Omega}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^2\epsilon^d} \left(1+\epsilon^2\right) + \frac{(d-1)V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi} G(\dot{\phi}) + \frac{V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi} T - \frac{V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^2} \left[e^{(d-1)\phi} \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1+e^{-2\phi}}}\right)\right]_{-\infty}^0,$$

$$(4.8)$$

where now, function $G(\dot{\phi})$, with finite size corrections, becomes

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}(\dot{\phi}^2 - 1)} + \dot{\phi}e^{-\phi} \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1 + e^{-2\phi}}}\right).$$
 (4.9)

Note that, as we showed in the previous example in Poincare coordinates, the gravity action (without the tension term) that computes the semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave functions (3.8) should be regarded as the CFT path-integral complexity (Liouville action in 2d) together with finite cut-off corrections from the bulk. These holographic finite cut-off corrections will naturally depend on the details of the gravity geometry such as e.g. the finite size in (4.8) or mass of excitations (black hole) that we will see in the following examples.

Maximization of the wave function with respect to ϕ again leads to the CMC slices

$$K|_Q = \frac{d}{d-1}T,\tag{4.10}$$

and we can solve it for $-(d-1) < T \le 0$ by

$$e^{2\phi(w)} = \frac{1}{f^2(w)} = \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}\right)\sinh^2(w - c_1)}.$$
(4.11)

Constant c_1 is fixed such that the boundary condition (3.30), $f(0) = \epsilon$, is satisfied

$$c_1 \simeq \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}}},$$
(4.12)

and in the computations of the on-shell action we will be taking the $\epsilon \ll 1$ limit first.

Again, this result in conformal coordinate w matches the solution that we get from path-integral optimization with the Liouville action (or its generalization to higher dimensions (2.12)) on the cylinder.¹⁶

Moreover, we can integrate (4.3) and write the embedding function $f(\tau)$ of the surface Q in original global AdS_{d+1} coordinates

$$f(\tau) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}} \frac{\tanh(c_2 - \tau)}{\sqrt{\frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2} - \tanh^2(\tau - c_2)}},$$
(4.14)

where, from the boundary condition $f(0) = \epsilon$ we can fix c_2 to

$$c_2 \simeq \frac{\epsilon |T|}{(d-1)\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}}} + O(\epsilon^3).$$
 (4.15)

To analyze this profile more carefully, it is useful to parametrize Q as $\tau(r)$ and we derive

$$\tau(r) = \sinh^{-1}\left(\frac{T}{(d-1)\sqrt{(1+r^2)\left(1-\frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}\right)}}\right) + c_2.$$
(4.16)

We can verify that Q has a minimum at r = 0 where

$$\tau_{\min} = \tanh^{-1}\left(\frac{T}{d-1}\right) + O(\epsilon). \tag{4.17}$$

These surfaces are shown on figure 3. They interpolate between the $\tau = 0$ slice for T = 0and the boundary surface Σ for T = -(d-1).

Finally, for obtaining complexity $C_T^{(e)}$ (3.40), we first evaluate the on-shell gravity action (without the tension term). It can be computed in arbitrary dimensions in a closed form written in terms of special functions but, since it is not particularly illuminating, we just show a couple of results for specific dimensions.

On the other hand, the modified Hayward term in general dimensions given by

$$I'_{H} = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\gamma} \sqrt{\gamma} \theta_0 = \frac{V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \theta_0, \qquad \sin \theta_0 = \sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2 (1+\epsilon^2)}}.$$
 (4.18)

This way, e.g. in global AdS_3 we derive

$$\mathcal{C}_{T}^{(e)} = -\frac{V_{x}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon} \left(\theta_{0} + \frac{|T|}{\sqrt{1 - T^{2}}}\right) - \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}} \left(\frac{|T|}{1 - T^{2}} + \tanh^{-1}(T)\right) + O(\epsilon).$$
(4.19)

¹⁶Recall that the solution of Liouville equation on the cylinder of circumference L with coordinates $\tau \in (-\epsilon, -\infty)$ and $\sigma = \sigma + L$ written in coordinates $w = \tau + i\sigma$ is given by

$$e^{2\phi(w,\bar{w})} = \frac{4\pi^2}{L^2 \sinh^2\left(\frac{\pi(w+\bar{w})}{L}\right)} = \frac{4\pi^2}{L^2 \sinh^2\left(\frac{2\pi\tau}{L}\right)},\tag{4.13}$$

and we have the boundary condition $e^{2\phi(\tau=-\epsilon)} = \frac{1}{\epsilon^2}$ and $e^{2\phi(\tau=-\infty)} \to 0$.



Figure 3. Example slices Q that maximize the Hartle-Hawking wave functions in global AdS_{d+1} for a fixed value of T. They interpolate between the maximal, $\tau = 0$ slice for T = 0 (green) and one reaching to $\tau = -\infty$ for T = -(d-1).

In odd d, we also get an additional logarithmic divergence from the gravity action part. E.g. in global AdS_4 we derive

$$\mathcal{C}_{T}^{(e)} = -\frac{2V_{\Omega}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{3}} \left(1+\epsilon^{2}\right) + \frac{V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{|T|}{2\sqrt{1-\frac{T^{2}}{4}}}\frac{1}{\epsilon^{2}} - \arctan\frac{|T|}{2\sqrt{1-\frac{T^{2}}{4}}}\right] - \frac{V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^{2}}\frac{|T|^{3}}{8\left(1-\frac{T^{2}}{4}\right)^{3/2}}\log\left[\frac{2}{\epsilon}\sqrt{1-\frac{T^{2}}{4}}\right] + O(\epsilon).$$
(4.20)

From the analytic formula in general d we can verify that the complexity action is always minimized for T = 0. The minimal value can be computed in all dimensions and is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_{T=0}^{(e)} = -\frac{(d-1)V_{\Omega}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d}} \left(1+\epsilon^{2}\right) + \frac{V_{\Omega}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d-1}}\frac{\pi}{2}.$$
(4.21)

The leading divergent term and the modified Hayward term have the same form as in Poincare coordinates (with V_x there and V_{Ω} here) and the new finite-size signature enters via the sub-leading contribution (or constant term in d = 2).

4.2 Excited states in 3d

Next, we consider a general family of spacetimes that will allow us to reproduce all the metrics found in the path-integral optimization for 2d CFTs [37, 38]. More precisely, we repeat the computation of the semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave functions (3.8) using the on-shell gravity solution given by Euclidean BTZ-type metrics in three dimensions

$$ds^{2} = (r^{2} - r_{h}^{2})d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2} - r_{h}^{2}} + r^{2}dx^{2}, \qquad (4.22)$$

where $r_h^2 = M - 1$ can be positive or negative depending on the mass M of the excitation. For M = 0 or $r_h^2 = -1$ we will formally recover the above results in global AdS_3 (with d = 2).

We will now compute $\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}$ for region M specified by $\frac{1}{f(\tau)} \leq r \leq \frac{1}{\epsilon}$, where $r = 1/f(\tau)$ and $r = 1/\epsilon$ describe the surface Q and the asymptotic boundary Σ , respectively. The xdirection can be taken periodic or a real line and will only appear inside the overall factor V_x as before.

Following our procedure, for Σ at $r = 1/\epsilon$ we derive

$$K_{\Sigma} = \frac{2 - r_h^2 \epsilon^2}{\sqrt{1 - r_h^2 \epsilon^2}}.$$
(4.23)

On the other hand, the induced metric on Q is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{f^{2}} \left[\left(1 - r_{h}^{2} f(\tau)^{2} + \frac{f'^{2}}{1 - r_{h}^{2} f(\tau)^{2}} \right) d\tau^{2} + dx^{2} \right] = e^{2\phi} (dw^{2} + dx^{2}), \qquad (4.24)$$

where we introduced $-\infty < w < 0$ such that

$$w'(\tau) = \sqrt{1 - r_h^2 f^2 + \frac{f'^2}{1 - r_h^2 f^2}} = \frac{1 - r_h^2 f^2}{\sqrt{1 - r_h^2 f^2 - \dot{f}^2}}.$$
(4.25)

The trace of extrinsic curvature in terms of τ and $f(\tau)$ is now

$$K|_Q = -\frac{1}{w'^3} \left[ff'' + \frac{f'(\tau)^2 (2 + r_h^2 f^2) + (1 - r_h^2 f^2)^2 (2 - r_h^2 f^2)}{1 - r_h^2 f^2} \right],$$
(4.26)

or in terms of w and $\phi(w) \equiv -\log(f(w))$

$$K|_Q = \frac{e^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + \dot{\phi}^2) + r_h^2 e^{-2\phi} - 2}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}(\dot{\phi}^2 + r_h^2)}}.$$
(4.27)

The action that computes the Hartle-Hawking wave function is now given in terms of $f(\tau)$ as

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^2} \left(1 - r_h^2 \epsilon^2 \right) - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int \frac{d\tau}{f(\tau)^2} w' \left[K|_Q - T + \frac{1}{w'} \right].$$
(4.28)

As before, we can integrate by parts and derive the main result for excited states in asymptotically AdS_3 geometry (4.22)

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^2} \left(1 - r_h^2 \epsilon^2 \right) + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int dw \, e^{2\phi} G(\dot{\phi}) + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int dw \, e^{2\phi} T \qquad (4.29)$$
$$-\frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \left[e^{\phi} \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi} e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1 - r_h^2 e^{-2\phi}}}\right) \right]_{-\infty}^0,$$

with

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi} \left(\dot{\phi}^2 + r_h^2\right)} + \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi} e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1 - r_h^2 e^{-2\phi}}}\right).$$
 (4.30)

Variation with respect to ϕ yields the CMC condition $K|_Q = 2T$ and is again equivalent to the Neumann condition (3.29). For negative tension, we can solve it by

$$e^{2\phi} = \frac{r_h^2}{(1 - T^2)\sin^2\left(r_h(w - c_1)\right)},\tag{4.31}$$

where c_1 is tuned appropriately to reproduce the boundary condition (3.30).

This family of solutions precisely matches those in the path-integral optimization [37, 38] via the identification (3.32). For $r_h^2 = -(1 - M) = -\alpha^2$ we reproduce excited states from the optimization for primary operators in 2d CFT i.e. conical singularity geometries, including the finite size vacuum. For $r_h = 2\pi/\beta$ and w on the strip, we reproduce the optimal geometry for the thermofield double (TFD) state that was found to describe the time slice of eternal black hole (Einstein-Rosen bridge) [72]. We can verify that all these solutions have constant negative curvature

$$R^{(2)} = -2(1 - T^2), (4.32)$$

which is just a special case of (3.46) with d = 2 and follows from the Hamiltonian constraint supplemented by the Neumann boundary condition. We now analyze two of these solutions in more detail.

4.2.1 Conical singularities

Let as first take the solutions with $r_h^2 = -\alpha^2$, often referred to as conical singularities

$$e^{2\phi} = \frac{\alpha^2}{(1-T^2)\sinh^2\left(\alpha(w-c_1)\right)}.$$
(4.33)

In fact this solution has a constant Ricci scalar as (4.32) with an extra δ -function proportional to $(1 - \alpha)$ at $w \to -\infty$. This can be seen by e.g. mapping the 2d surface into a disc.

The boundary condition for ϕ at w = 0 implies

$$c_1 \simeq \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{1 - T^2}} + O(\epsilon^3). \tag{4.34}$$

In terms of τ the embedding function of Q reads

$$f(\tau) = \frac{\sqrt{1 - T^2} \tanh(\alpha(c_2 - \tau))}{\alpha \sqrt{T^2 - \tanh^2(\alpha(\tau - c_2))}},$$
(4.35)

with

$$c_2 \simeq \frac{\epsilon |T|}{\sqrt{1 - T^2}} + O(\epsilon^3).$$
 (4.36)

It is again convenient to parametrize Q as

$$\tau(r) = \frac{1}{\alpha} \tanh^{-1} \left(\frac{\alpha T}{\sqrt{r^2 (1 - T^2) + \alpha^2}} \right) + c_2.$$
(4.37)

These rotationally symmetric solutions have minima at r = 0

$$\tau_{\min} = \frac{1}{\alpha} \tanh^{-1}(T) + O(\epsilon), \qquad (4.38)$$

and interpolate between $\tau = 0$ surface for T = 0 and a surface with minimum at $\tau = -\infty$ (and r = 0) for $T \to -1$. For $\alpha = 1$ we recover the global AdS_3 solution.

For the Euclidean complexity $\mathcal{C}_T^{(e)}$, the on-shell action without the tension term is equal to

$$I_G = -\frac{V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^2} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \left(\frac{|T|}{\sqrt{1 - T^2} \epsilon} - \frac{\alpha |T|}{1 - T^2} - \alpha \tanh^{-1}(T) \right) + O(\epsilon),$$
(4.39)

while the modified Hayward term is given by

$$I'_{H} = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int \sqrt{\gamma} \theta_0 = \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2 \epsilon} \theta_0, \qquad \theta_0 = \sin^{-1} \left(\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{1 + \alpha^2 \epsilon^2}} \right). \tag{4.40}$$

Adding these contributions together, we arrive at

$$\mathcal{C}_{T}^{(e)} = -\frac{V_{x}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon} \left(\theta_{0} + \frac{|T|}{\sqrt{1 - T^{2}}}\right) - \frac{V_{x}\alpha}{\kappa^{2}} \left(\frac{|T|}{1 - T^{2}} + \tanh^{-1}(T)\right) + O(\epsilon).$$
(4.41)

This action is monotonic and has a minimum at T = 0 so the $\tau = 0$ slices of (4.22) have the lowest holographic path-integral complexity. The minimal value is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_{T=0}^{(e)} = -\frac{V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^2} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \frac{\pi}{2\epsilon} + O(\epsilon).$$
(4.42)

Again the ϵ^{-2} divergence originates from the choice of the "reference metric" at Σ .

4.2.2 Thermofield double

Next, we can use the solution (4.31) to analyze the gravity dual of the path-integral optimization for the TFD state

$$|\Psi\rangle_{\rm TFD} = \sum_{n} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2}E_n} |E_n\rangle |E_n\rangle, \qquad (4.43)$$

studied in [37, 38]. We take $r_h = 2\pi/\beta$ and Euclidean time between $\tau \in (-\beta/4, \beta/4)$, while imposing the usual boundary conditions (3.30) at both ends. If we then take

$$w \in \left[-\frac{\beta}{4} + \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{1 - T^2}}, \frac{\beta}{4} - \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{1 - T^2}}\right],\tag{4.44}$$

we can write the solution as

$$e^{2\phi} = \frac{4\pi^2}{(1-T^2)\,\beta^2 \cos^2\left(\frac{2\pi w}{\beta}\right)},\tag{4.45}$$

and it clearly satisfies the boundary condition at each end. This solution is equivalent to the optimized metric from the path-integrals preparing TFD state in 2d CFTs [37, 38].¹⁷

¹⁷Note that analogous analysis could be done for the pure state $|\Psi\rangle = e^{-\beta/4H}|B\rangle$ with $\tau \in [0, \beta/4)$ and $|B\rangle$ representing a boundary state in CFT.



Figure 4. Solutions (4.46) shown on the cigar geometry (left) and its projection (right) for a few sample values of T interpolating between T = 0 (red) and T = -1 (green). The semi-circles have the range $\tau \in [-\beta/4, \beta/4]$.

Using (4.25), we can derive $f(\tau)$ and surfaces Q, plotted on figure 4, are given by the embedding function

$$f(\tau) = \frac{\sqrt{1 - T^2}}{r_h \sqrt{1 + T^2 \tan^2(r_h \tau)}},$$
(4.46)

where the range of τ is now

$$\tau \in \left[-\frac{\beta}{4} - c_2, \frac{\beta}{4} + c_2\right],\tag{4.47}$$

with cut-off

$$c_2 \simeq \frac{\epsilon T}{\sqrt{1 - T^2}} + O(\epsilon). \tag{4.48}$$

Again in the analysis we take $\epsilon \to 0$ first.

In order to estimate the complexity $\mathcal{C}_T^{(e)}$, we first compute the on-shell action without tension term

$$I_G = -\frac{V_x\beta}{2\kappa^2\epsilon^2} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \frac{2|T|}{\sqrt{1-T^2\epsilon}} + O(\epsilon).$$

$$(4.49)$$

Similarly, the modified Hayward terms from both corners are given by

$$I'_{H} = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\tau = -\beta/4} \sqrt{\gamma} \theta_0 + \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\tau = \beta/4} \sqrt{\gamma} \theta_0 = \frac{2V_x}{\kappa^2 \epsilon} \theta_0, \qquad (4.50)$$

where the inner angles are

$$\theta_0 = \sin^{-1} \left(\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{1 - \frac{4\pi^2 \epsilon^2}{\beta^2}}} \right).$$
(4.51)

Adding the two contributions gives the complexity for the holographic TFD setup

$$\mathcal{C}_T^{(e)} = -\frac{V_x\beta}{2\kappa^2\epsilon^2} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2\epsilon} \left(\frac{2|T|}{\sqrt{1-T^2}} + 2\theta_0\right) + O(\epsilon).$$
(4.52)

We can check that this expression is minimal for T = 0 and again the ϵ^{-2} divergence comes from the "reference metric" at Σ 's. The minimal value is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_{T=0}^{(e)} = -\frac{V_x\beta}{2\kappa^2\epsilon^2} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2}\frac{\pi}{\epsilon}.$$
(4.53)

Note that this result has a similar structure to the vacuum example in Poincare AdS_3 and the only dependence on the temperature enters via the range of τ : $L_{\tau} = \beta/2$. This is a similar behaviour to holographic computations of complexity in three dimensions [39, 40, 73] and reflects the fact that in three dimensions all of the above metrics are locally AdS_3 (see also appendix D for more details on three-dimensional solutions). We will see that in higher dimensions, black holes lead to a more involved result for holographic path-integral complexity with respect to the vacuum state.

4.3 Planar black holes in higher dimensions

Next, we can study an interesting generalization of the above computations to the Euclidean planar black-hole metric in d + 1 dimensions

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{z^{2}} \left((1 - Mz^{d})d\tau^{2} + \frac{dz^{2}}{1 - Mz^{d}} + dx_{i}^{2} \right),$$
(4.54)

where $M^{1/d} = (4\pi)/(d\beta)$ and the Euclidean time is periodic $\tau \in [0,\beta]$ such that when we consider the wave function for the TFD state, we focus on $\tau \in [-\frac{\beta}{4}, \frac{\beta}{4}]$.

In the following, we compute the semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave function (3.8) using the usual algorithm. For the asymptotic boundary surface Σ at $z = \epsilon$ we have the trace of the extrinsic curvature in this geometry

$$K|_{\Sigma} = \frac{d\left(2 - M\epsilon^d\right)}{2\sqrt{1 - M\epsilon^d}}.$$
(4.55)

On the other hand, for surface Q defined by the embedding function $z = f(\tau)$ the induced metric is

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{f(\tau)^{2}} \left[\left(1 - Mf^{d} + \frac{f'(\tau)^{2}}{1 - Mf^{d}} \right) d\tau^{2} + dx_{i}^{2} \right] \equiv e^{2\phi} \left(dw^{2} + d^{2}x_{i} \right),$$
(4.56)

where, as before for the TFD in two dimensions, we introduced the conformal coordinate w satisfying

$$w'(\tau) = \sqrt{1 - Mf^d + \frac{f'(\tau)^2}{1 - Mf^d}} = \frac{1 - Mf^d}{\sqrt{1 - Mf^d - \dot{f}(w)^2}},$$
(4.57)

and its range will be specified below.

The trace of the extrinsic curvature on Q is now expressed in terms of $f(\tau)$ as

$$K|_{Q} = -\frac{1}{w'^{3}} \left[ff'' + \frac{d(2+Mf^{d})}{2(1-Mf^{d})} f'^{2} + \frac{d}{2} \left(1 - Mf^{d} \right) (2-Mf^{d}) \right],$$
(4.58)

or in terms of $\phi(w) = -\log(f(w))$ we get a generalization of the previous expressions

$$K|_{Q} = \frac{e^{-2\phi} \left(\ddot{\phi} + (d-1)\dot{\phi}^{2}\right) - d\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}Me^{-d\phi}\right)}{\sqrt{1 - Me^{-d\phi} - \dot{\phi}^{2}e^{-2\phi}}}.$$
(4.59)

Then the on-shell action that computes the Hartle-Hawking wave function (3.8) takes the standard form

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{(d-1)V_x L_\tau}{\kappa^2} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^d} - \frac{dM}{2(d-1)}\right) - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int \frac{d\tau}{f^d} w'(\tau) \left[K|_Q + \frac{1}{w'(\tau)} - T\right].$$
 (4.60)

Finally, rewriting it in terms of w and $\phi(w)$ and integrating by parts we arrive at the main result for higher-dimensional black holes (4.54)

$$I_{G} + I_{T} = -\frac{(d-1)V_{x}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^{d}} - \frac{dM}{2(d-1)} \right) + \frac{(d-1)V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}} \int dw e^{d\phi} G(\dot{\phi}) + \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}} \int dw e^{d\phi} T - \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}} \left[e^{(d-1)\phi} \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1 - Me^{-d\phi}}}\right) \right]_{bdr},$$
(4.61)

with a closed formula

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \frac{1 - \frac{d}{2(d-1)}Me^{-d\phi}}{1 - Me^{-d\phi}}\sqrt{1 - Me^{-d\phi} - \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}} + \dot{\phi}e^{-\phi} \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1 - Me^{-d\phi}}}\right).$$
 (4.62)

This generalizes the result from d = 2 and we can see that only for three-dimensional geometry the pre-factor of the square-root trivializes leading to a simpler equation of motion.

Indeed, the variation with respect to ϕ that gives the maximization constraint can still be written in a compact form as

$$\frac{d}{d-1}T - K|_Q = \frac{(d-2)Me^{-d\phi} \left(2e^{-2\phi}(\dot{\phi}^2 - \ddot{\phi}) + dMe^{-d\phi}\right)}{4(d-1) \left(1 - Me^{-d\phi} - \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}\right)^{3/2}},$$
(4.63)

where $K|_Q$ is given by (4.59). For d = 2 the right hand side vanishes so that we reproduce the condition for the CMC slice. Naively, we can expect that CMC slices will no longer maximize the Hartle-Hawking wave functions in this higher-dimensional background. This conclusion is too quick as we can see from analyzing the full Neumann boundary condition.

Indeed, we can again consider the Neumann boundary condition (3.29) (rewritten in terms of $\phi(w)$) that in this setup gives two constraints. First, the (τ, τ) components

$$h_{\tau\tau} \left(T + (d-1)\sqrt{1 - Me^{-d\phi} - \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}} \right) = 0, \tag{4.64}$$

and the (a, b) components yield

$$h_{ab}\left[T - \sqrt{1 - Me^{-d\phi} - \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}} - K|_Q\right] = 0.$$
(4.65)

If we solve the first one, then the second is equivalent to the trace CMC condition $K|_Q = \frac{d}{d-1}T$. Solving the first constraint is equivalent to the equation

$$\dot{\phi}^2 + M e^{-(d-2)\phi} = \left(1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}\right) e^{2\phi},$$
(4.66)

and for T < 0, $\dot{\phi}$ also solves the second equation.

To solve (4.66), for convenience, we first shift

$$\phi \to \tilde{\phi} - \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2} \right), \qquad \tilde{M}_d = M \left(1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2} \right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}},$$
(4.67)

to absorb the constant on the right-hand side and write the equation in terms of $\tilde{\phi} = -\log(F(w))$ as

$$F'^2 + \tilde{M}_d F^d - 1 = 0. ag{4.68}$$

This equation can be solved by standard methods and requires inverting the integral

j

$$w + c = \int^{F} \frac{dF}{\sqrt{1 - \tilde{M}_{d}F^{d}}} = F_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{d}, \frac{d+1}{d}, \tilde{M}_{d}F^{d}\right),$$
(4.69)

in order to find F(w). This way, in d = 2 we recover the previous result with sin function (4.31).

Interestingly, for d = 4, we can also obtain analytic result in terms of Jacobi sine Elliptic function sn(x, -1). Namely, for -3 < T < 0, we find the solution of the Neumann boundary condition and $K|_Q = 4T/3$ given by

$$e^{2\phi(w)} = \frac{\sqrt{M}}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{9}} sn^2 \left(M^{1/4} \left(1 - \frac{T^2}{9}\right)^{1/4} w, -1\right)}.$$
(4.70)

This metric is a new result that on top of constant $K|_Q$ has a constant Ricci scalar (3.46) for d = 4 hence, after the map (3.32), it is also a solution of the four dimensional path-integral optimization problem (2.20) for the TFD state.

Let us now fix the appropriate range of w. Since the real periodicity of sn(x,m) is 4K(m), we can consider the 4d counterpart of the previous TFD solution by taking w in the interval

$$w \in \left[c_1, \frac{2K(-1)}{M^{1/4} \left(1 - \frac{T^2}{9} \right)^{1/4}} - c_1 \right],$$
(4.71)

where K(-1) = K(m = -1) is a numerical constant and c_1 is expressed in terms of the inverse Jacobi sn^{-1} as

$$c_1 = \frac{1}{M^{1/4} \left(1 - \frac{T^2}{9}\right)^{1/4}} sn^{-1} \left(\frac{M^{1/4} \epsilon}{\left(1 - \frac{T^2}{9}\right)^{1/4}}, -1\right) \simeq \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{9}}} + O(\epsilon^5),$$
(4.72)

so that at the end points we satisfy the boundary condition $f(w) = \epsilon$.

Finally, this analytic result allows us to evaluate the holographic path-integral complexity from the Hartle-Hawking wave function in this five-dimensional black-hole geometry. The on-shell action without the tension term can now be computed as

$$I_{G} = -\frac{3V_{x}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^{4}} - \frac{2M}{3}\right) - \frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}} \int dw e^{4\phi} \left[\frac{4}{3}T + \frac{1}{w'(\tau)}\right],$$

$$= -\frac{3V_{x}L_{\tau}}{\kappa^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^{4}} - \frac{2M}{3}\right) + \frac{2V_{x}}{3\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{|T|}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^{2}}{9}}\epsilon^{3}} + \frac{|T|M^{3/4}K(-1)}{\left(1 - \frac{T^{2}}{9}\right)^{5/4}}\right] + O(\epsilon), \quad (4.73)$$

where $L_{\tau} = \beta/2 = \pi/(2M^{1/4})$.

Moreover, the modified Hayward term again consists of two equal contributions from each inner-angle

$$I'_{H} = 2\frac{V_{x}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{3}}\theta_{0}, \qquad \theta_{0} = \sin^{-1}\left(\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^{2}}{9\left(1 - M\epsilon^{4}\right)}}\right).$$
(4.74)

Adding two contributions we can verify that the Euclidean complexity $C_T^{(e)}$ is minimized for T = 0. Its minimal value is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_{T=0}^{(e)} = \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\epsilon^4} + \frac{\pi}{\epsilon^3} + \frac{\pi^4}{3\beta^3} \right) + O(\epsilon).$$
(4.75)

Interestingly, unlike in d = 2, we obtain a constant (ϵ^0), β -dependent term that increases the value of complexity for large temperatures. In fact, as also noted in [73], the constant term is proportional to the entropy.¹⁸

For other dimensions, inverting the hypergeometric function would have to be done numerically and we leave this analysis as an interesting future problem.

It is also useful to comment on the relation between the on-shell values of our Euclidean complexity actions and the complexity equals volume [39, 40] computations. Since, on-shell, the extrinsic curvature is proportional to T, our complexity action contains the contribution from the pure volume of Q as well as from the bulk and the Hayward term. However, once we further minimize over T, the contributions become more difficult to disentangle. Nevertheless, e.g. similarity with [73] may suggest that the final result contains (parts of) the CV answer and we leave determining these details and connections with holographic complexity conjectures as an interesting future problem.

5 JT gravity

In this section we will test our construction in the context of Euclidean JT gravity dual to the SYK model [74–79]. Most of the computations presented above goes through in this two dimensional gravity model as well. However, it turns out that in order to naturally generalize our discussion, it is more advantageous to introduce the tension term on surface Q by coupling to the dilaton¹⁹ field Φ , such that the action computing the Hartle-Hawking wave functions (3.8) in JT will be given by

$$I_{JT} + I_{T_{\Phi}} = -\Phi_0 \chi(M) - \int_M \sqrt{g} \Phi(R+2) - 2 \int_{\partial M} \sqrt{h} \Phi K + 2T_{\Phi} \int_Q \sqrt{h} \Phi, \quad (5.1)$$

with $\chi(M)$ being the Euler characteristic of the region M.

On-shell solutions of this theory (again we work in the probe limit and have in mind solutions of pure JT gravity without T_{Φ}) have constant negative curvature R = -2 and

¹⁸We thank the anonymous referee for pointing this to us.

¹⁹From the three dimensional origin of JT action such term naturally arises by adding a brane with tension in 3d in which \sqrt{h} yields the dilaton field.

dilaton equation of motion is set by the vanishing energy-momentum tensor. As an example solution, we can take the 2d Schwarzschild metric with dilaton profile

$$ds^{2} = (r^{2} - r_{h}^{2})d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2} - r_{h}^{2}}, \qquad \Phi(r) = \Phi_{b}r.$$
(5.2)

We will take $r_h = 2\pi/\beta$ and be interested in $\tau \in [-\beta/4, \beta/4]$. By analogy to higher dimensions, we consider region M bounded by Σ at $r = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \to \infty$ and Q specified by $r = 1/f(\tau)$. The induced metric on Q becomes

$$ls^2 = e^{2\phi} dw^2, \qquad e^{\phi} = f^{-1}, \tag{5.3}$$

where w' is given by the same expression as in (4.25).

Following the same steps as before, we can derive the on-shell action that computes the semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave function

$$I_{JT} + I_{T_{\Phi}} = -\frac{2L_{\tau}\Phi_b}{\epsilon^2} - 2\Phi_0 \int dw e^{\phi} \left[K|_Q + \frac{1}{w'} \right] - 2\Phi_b \int dw e^{2\phi} \left[K|_Q - T_{\Phi} \right], \quad (5.4)$$

with w' as in (4.25) and

$$K|_Q = \frac{\ddot{\phi}e^{-2\phi} - 1}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}(\dot{\phi}^2 + r_h^2)}}.$$
(5.5)

Similarly, the action written in terms of w and $\phi(w)$ in the first-derivative form can be obtained as

$$I_{JT} + I_{T_{\Phi}} = -\frac{2L_{\tau}\Phi_b}{\epsilon^2} + 2\Phi_b \int_Q e^{2\phi}G(\dot{\phi}) + 2\Phi_b \int_Q e^{2\phi}T_{\Phi} -2\left[\left(\Phi_0 + \Phi_b e^{\phi}\right) \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1 - r_h^2 e^{-2\phi}}}\right)\right]_{bdr},$$
(5.6)

with monotonic a function of $\dot{\phi}$

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \frac{\sqrt{1 - e^{-2\phi}(\dot{\phi}^2 + r_h^2)}}{1 - r_h^2 e^{-2\phi}} + \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \arcsin\left(\frac{\dot{\phi} e^{-\phi}}{\sqrt{1 - r_h^2 e^{-2\phi}}}\right).$$
 (5.7)

With the intuition from previous examples we can again consider the UV limit. Interestingly, for small $\dot{\phi}$ as well as small r_h , we get the following action in the leading order

$$I_{JT}|_{\rm UV} = \Phi_b \int \left(\dot{\phi}^2 + 2e^{2\phi}\right) + \dots$$
(5.8)

With the usual replacement of the reparametrization function $e^{\phi} \sim \tilde{w}'(w)$, this action precisely describes the Schwarzian sector of the SYK model (compare e.g. [77, 78]).

The saddle point equation from the maximization of the wave-function is again equivalent to the Neumann boundary condition. More explicitly, varying the action with respect to ϕ yields the equation

$$K|_Q - T_\Phi = -\frac{\left(1 - \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}\right) \left(r_h^2 + \left(\dot{\phi}^2 - \ddot{\phi}\right)\right) e^{-2\phi}}{2\left(1 - e^{-2\phi}(r_h^2 + \dot{\phi}^2)\right)^{3/2}},\tag{5.9}$$

where $K|_Q$ is given by (5.5).

We can verify that for $-1 < T_{\Phi} < 0$, this equation is solved by

$$e^{2\phi} = \frac{r_h^2}{(1 - T_\Phi^2)\cos^2\left(r_h w\right)},\tag{5.10}$$

with

$$w \in \left[-\frac{\beta}{4} + \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{1-T^2}}, \frac{\beta}{4} - \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{1-T^2}}\right].$$
 (5.11)

Similarly to the higher-dimensional planar black holes, the right hand side of (5.9) vanishes on-shell and the surface is again described by the CMC slice $K|_Q = T_{\Phi}$. This solution is a natural generalization of its higher dimensional TFD cousins.

Finally, we can compute holographic path-integral complexity in the Euclidean JT model. First, we evaluate the on-shell JT gravity action without tension T_{Φ} term

$$I_{JT} = -\frac{\beta \Phi_b}{\epsilon^2} - 2\Phi_0 \int dw e^{\phi} \left[T_{\Phi} + \frac{1}{w'} \right] - 2\Phi_b T_{\Phi} \int dw e^{2\phi},$$

$$= -\frac{\beta \Phi_b}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{4|T_{\Phi}|\Phi_b}{\sqrt{1 - T_{\Phi}^2}\epsilon} - 4\Phi_0 \left(\pi - \arccos(T_{\Phi})\right).$$
(5.12)

On the other hand, the internal angles θ_0 that appear in the modified Hayward terms are now related to T_{Φ} by

$$\theta_0 = \arcsin\left(\sqrt{1 - T_{\Phi}^2}\right).$$
(5.13)

From the form of the JT action (5.1), it is then natural to generalize the modified Hayward term from section 3.4 to include the coupling to Φ_0 as well as the dilaton $\Phi(r)$ at each corner²⁰

$$I'_{H} = 2\sum_{i} \theta_{0}^{i} \left(\Phi_{0} + \Phi(r)\right)|_{C_{i}} = 2\left(\Phi_{0} + \frac{\Phi_{b}}{\epsilon}\right) 2\theta_{0},$$
(5.14)

where C_i stands for the *i*-th corner in the wedge region M. In fact this term plays the same role as its higher-dimensional counterparts and, when added to the JT action, cancels the boundary term in (5.6).

This way, the holographic path-integral complexity action in JT model becomes

$$\mathcal{C}_{T}^{(e)} = -\frac{\beta \Phi_{b}}{\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{2\Phi_{b}}{\epsilon} \left(\frac{2|T_{\Phi}|}{\sqrt{1 - T_{\Phi}^{2}}} + 2\theta_{0} \right) -4\Phi_{0} \left(\pi - \cos^{-1}(T_{\Phi}) - \theta_{0} \right).$$
(5.15)

We can then check that after inserting (5.13) the second line of this expression, as well as dependence on Φ_0 , vanishes. Therefore, analogously to the TFD example in the previous sections, the complexity is minimized at $T_{\Phi} = 0$. The minimum value is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_{T=0}^{(e)} = -\frac{\beta \Phi_b}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{2\pi \Phi_b}{\epsilon}.$$
(5.16)

 $^{^{20}}$ See also e.g. [79] where standard Hayward/corner terms in JT gravity were included in the same form and [80] for related analysis.

With this example we finish the analysis of the Euclidean Hartle-Hawking wave functions and confirm our procedure, including the estimation of holographic path-integral complexity for $T \neq 0$ slices, across dimensions. In the next section, we will proceed to analyze gravitational path-integrals in Lorentzian geometries.

6 Lorentzian spacetimes

The main important motivation for generalizing the above construction to Lorentzian signature has to do with understanding how general, time-dependent, holographic geometries emerge from CFT. An interesting clue in this direction was given in [27] that proposed to interpret general slices of holographic spacetimes as different quantum circuits constructed from path-integrals on these geometries (Euclidean or Lorentzian) that prepare quantum states in CFTs (see also [20, 21]). Nevertheless, in order to test this proposal, the optimization of Lorentzian path-integrals in CFTs requires a much better understanding. In this section, with the gravitational construction at hand, we will first perform the Lorentzian computations in AdS and then use them to shed some top-down light on how one could advance the optimization of path-integrals in Lorentzian CFTs.

Moreover, the advantage of the Hartle-Hawking approach is that we can apply it also to gravity on a de Sitter (dS) spacetime. Up to date, there have been various attempts to formulate holographic duals of de Sitter gravity, the so called dS/CFT correspondence [86, 87], in which the dual CFTs are usually argued to be associated with the future spacelike boundary (refer also to other approaches e.g. [17, 88]). However, comparing AdS/CFT, understanding of dS/CFT holography has been highly limited and it is fair to say that the validity of the holographic duality with dS itself is under debate at present. Therefore, working under the assumption that the dual theory is associated with the spacelike boundary region Σ , we hope that the Hartle-Hawking approach may provide a new way to probe how holography on de Sitter spaces looks like. In this section, we will also analyze Hartle-Hawking wave functions in de Sitter spacetimes and extract new lessons for possible path-integral optimization in dS/CFT.

Conceptually, the standard Lorentzian path-integral in gravity is computing transition amplitudes between two geometries: some reference metric $g^{(1)}$ and a different metric $g^{(2)}$ (see e.g. [89] for interesting applications in quantum gravity). If we naturally extend our proposal to Lorentzian signature, the gravitational path-integral will be evaluating transition amplitudes between a geometry on a timelike boundary Σ of AdS_{d+1} (or spacelike boundary Σ for dS_{d+1}) and a timelike or spacelike surface Q with tension T up to which we integrate the bulk gravity action

$$\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[g^{(2)},g^{(1)}] = \langle g^{(2)}|g^{(1)}\rangle^{(T)} = \int [Dg_{\mu\nu}]e^{i(I_G+I_T)}\delta(g|_Q - g^{(2)})\delta(g|_\Sigma - g^{(1)}), \quad (6.1)$$

where I_G is the Lorentzian Einstein-Hilbert action with the Gibbons-Hawking term and I_T is the tension term on Q. With a slight abuse of language, we will still refer to these transition amplitudes as Hartle-Hawking wave functions.

To make progress, we will again only be able to compute the Lorentzian Hartle-Hawking wave function semi-classically by the gravity on-shell action with the tension term. Namely, after introducing the conformal coordinate w that will put the metric on Q (specified by embedding homogeneous function f(t)) in the Weyl Minkowski (for timelike Q) or Weyl flat (for spacelike Q) form, we will evaluate the Hartle-Hawking wave functional of the Weyl factor $\phi(w) = -\log(f(w))$ as

$$\Psi_{HH}^{T}[\phi] \sim e^{i(I_G + I_T)}|_{\text{on-shell}}.$$
(6.2)

Then, the "maximization" will be performed by finding the extremum of the classical action with respect to ϕ with analogous boundary condition to (3.30).

Last but not least, we propose a generalization of the holographic path-integral complexity from Hartle-Hawking wave functions to Lorentzian signature given by

$$\mathcal{C}_T^{(l)} = -\left(I_G + I'_H\right),\tag{6.3}$$

where I_G is the Lorentzian gravity action without the tension term and I'_H stands for an appropriate modified Lorentzian Hayward term that, as in the Euclidean case (3.40), will be careful computed for spacelike and timelike surfaces Q below. The overall minus sign in (6.3) is chosen such that it is consistent with the holographic analysis in [27].

Before we proceed with explicit examples, let us also review the argument with the Hamiltonian constraint in gravity and the curvature of the slices that maximize the Hartle-Hawking wave function. In Lorentzian signature, we will be interested in slices of solutions to Einstein's equations in d + 1 dimensions with negative (AdS_{d+1}) or positive (dS_{d+1}) cosmological constants

$$G_{\mu\nu} = -\Lambda_{\rm AdS/dS}^{(d+1)} g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(6.4)

We will then consider arbitrary non-null slices Q with normal vector n^{μ} such that $n_{\mu}n^{\mu} = \varepsilon$, where $\varepsilon = +1$ corresponds to timelike and $\varepsilon = -1$ to spacelike slices respectively. We can again project Einstein's equations to the normal components and derive a local "Hamiltonian" constraint (see e.g. [66])

$$\varepsilon \left(K^2 - K^{ij} K_{ij} \right) = R^{(d)} - 2\Lambda^{(d+1)}_{\text{AdS/dS}}.$$
(6.5)

As will see below, the maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave functions will again be equivalent to imposing Neumann boundary condition on Q, that together with its trace being constant, implies (3.48). This way, from the Hamiltonian constraint, we can derive that Ricci scalar curvature of slices Q is constant and given by

$$R^{(d)} = 2\Lambda_{\text{AdS/dS}}^{(d+1)} + \varepsilon \frac{d}{d-1}T^2.$$
(6.6)

We will verify this formula in the examples below and indeed see that timelike CMC slices of both AdS_{d+1} and dS_{d+1} are positively curved whereas spacelike CMC slices in these geometries have constant negative curvatures. We will then speculate on possible extensions of the path-integral optimization to Lorentzian CFTs that could give rise to continuous tensor networks with both of these constant curvatures.

6.1 Semi-classical wave functions in AdS_{d+1}

In this section we evaluate the semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave function (6.2) in AdS_{d+1} using the on-shell Lorentzian action

$$I_G + I_T = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int_M \sqrt{-g} \left(R - 2\Lambda \right) + \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_Q \sqrt{|h|} (K - T) + \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_\Sigma \sqrt{|h|} K.$$
(6.7)

For simplicity, we analyze the d + 1-dimensional AdS in Poincare coordinates dual to the vacuum of Lorentzian CFT_d

$$ds^{2} = l^{2} \frac{dz^{2} - dt^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}}{z^{2}},$$
(6.8)

where, in order to compare the results with those in de-Sitter spacetime in the next section, we keep the radius l of AdS_{d+1} explicit.

As in the Euclidean computation, we focus on the asymptotic region M of AdS_{d+1} between Σ : at $z = \epsilon$, that is timelike, and a spacelike or timelike surface Q in the bulk defined by radial coordinate as a function of the boundary time t: z = f(t). In M, we compute the bulk action together with boundary terms and tension (6.7) that will give the Lorentzian semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave function $\Psi_{HH}^{(T)}[\phi]$ in (6.2).²¹

To evaluate the result, we will need the trace of the extrinsic curvature at Σ given by

$$K|_{\Sigma} = \frac{d}{l}.\tag{6.9}$$

Then, we will have to pay a special attention to the signature of the induced metric on Q. More precisely, the induced metric on Q: z = f(t) is given by

$$ds^{2} = l^{2} \frac{-(1 - f'(t)^{2})dt^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}}{f^{2}(t)},$$
(6.10)

and in what follows, we will distinguish two cases: timelike when |f'(t)| < 1 and spacelike when |f'(t)| > 1, and analyze them separately below.

6.1.1 Timelike Q

In the timelike case with |f'(t)| < 1, we write the metric (6.10) on Q as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{l^{2}}{f(w)^{2}} \left(-dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2} \right) \equiv e^{2\phi(w)} \left(-dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2} \right), \tag{6.11}$$

where we defined coordinate w with the range $-\infty < w \leq 0$, related to t by

$$w'(t) = \sqrt{1 - f'(t)^2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \dot{f}(w)^2}}.$$
(6.12)

The trace of the extrinsic curvature on timelike Q is then given by

$$K|_Q = \frac{f(t)f''(t) - d(1 - f'(t)^2)}{l(1 - f'(t)^2)^{3/2}},$$
(6.13)

²¹Again we keep the boundary condition on Σ implicit.

or in terms of w and $\phi(w)$

$$K|_{Q} = -\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + (d-1)\dot{\phi}^{2}) + \frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{1 + l^{2}\dot{\phi}^{2}e^{-2\phi}}}.$$
(6.14)

With these ingredients, the Lorentzian on-shell action that computes the Hartle-Hawking wave function ("transition amplitude")(6.2) between timelike Σ and timelike Q can be written as

$$I_G + I_T = \frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} + \frac{V_x l^d}{\kappa^2} \int \frac{dt}{f(t)^d} w'(t) (K|_Q + \frac{1}{lw'(t)} - T),$$
(6.15)

with all the expressions spelled in terms of t and f(t) above and V_x and L_t defined as in the Euclidean examples. We can again rewrite this action in terms of w and $\phi(w)$ as

$$I_G + I_T = \frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi(w)} \left[-\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + (d-2)\dot{\phi}^2) + \frac{d-1}{l}}{\sqrt{1 + l^2\dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}}} - T \right].$$
(6.16)

Integrating by parts, allows to write the action in the first derivative form and we arrive at

$$I_G + I_T = \frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} + \frac{(d-1)V_x}{l\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi(w)} G(\dot{\phi}) - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi(w)} T - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \left[e^{(d-1)\phi} \sinh^{-1} \left(l\dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right) \right]_{-\infty}^0,$$
(6.17)

with

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = l\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}\sinh^{-1}\left(l\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}\right) - \sqrt{1 + l^2\dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi}}.$$
(6.18)

This is the main result for timelike surfaces Q in Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} .

To gain some intuition on what to expect from the Lorentzian path-integral optimization, we can again use this result to extract the CFT action in the UV limit. Expanding the answer for small $\dot{\phi}$ we derive

$$e^{d\phi}G(\dot{\phi}) \simeq \frac{1}{2}l^2 e^{(d-2)\phi} \left(\dot{\phi}^2 - \frac{2}{l^2}e^{2\phi} + O(\dot{\phi}^4)\right).$$
 (6.19)

In two-dimensions, this limit reproduces the standard Lorentzian Liouville action $S_L^{(l)}$, which takes the following form²²

$$S_L^{(l)} = \frac{c}{24\pi} \int d^2x \left[(\partial_t \phi)^2 - (\partial_x \phi)^2 - \mu e^{2\phi} \right].$$
 (6.20)

The Euclidean continuation of this action is the standard Liouville action (2.5). We will come back to this action at the end of this section.

²²If we include the tension term also, then $I_G + I_T$ gives the cosmological constant $\mu = 2 + \frac{2T}{d-1}$, where we set l = 1. Note that for T < -(d-1) which is assumed in the present case, we find $\mu < 0$. This is the reason why we can have the dS_d solutions with positive Ricci scalar. However for the evaluation of complexity (6.3) we always need to remove the tension term contribution as we did in Euclidean case, which leads to $\mu = 2$.

The equation of motion from the maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave function with (6.17) becomes

$$-\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi}+(d-1)\dot{\phi}^2)+\frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{1+l^2\dot{\phi}^2e^{-2\phi}}} = \frac{d}{d-1}T.$$
(6.21)

Comparing with (6.14), this is again the constraint for the CMC slices in Lorentzian geometry (6.8)

$$K|_Q = \frac{d}{d-1}T.$$
(6.22)

The solution with correct boundary condition, $f(0) = \epsilon$, is obtained for the negative range of the tension parameter $-\infty < T < -(d-1)/l$ and yields the timelike metric on Q

$$ds^{2} = \frac{l^{2}}{\left(-\sqrt{\frac{l^{2}T^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}} - 1}w + \epsilon\right)^{2}} \left(-dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}\right).$$
(6.23)

These are the Lorentzian d-dimensional de Sitter slices of AdS_{d+1} geometry (6.8). Indeed, we can verify that the Ricci scalar of this metric is constant positive

$$R^{(d)} = \frac{d(d-1)}{l^2} \left(\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1 \right) = -2\Lambda_{\text{AdS}}^{(d+1)} \left(\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1 \right), \tag{6.24}$$

which is consistent with the general result (6.6) from the gravity Hamiltonian constraint.

After integrating (6.12), we can find the embedding function f(t) of the timelike Q in original time coordinate

$$z = f(t) = \sqrt{\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1} \frac{d-1}{lT} t + \epsilon.$$
(6.25)

These are half-planes that interpolate between the timelike boundary Σ for $T \to -(d-1)/l$ and the null plane in the limit $T \to -\infty$, see blue lines on figure 5. The inner angle (i.e. "rapidity") between Σ and Q is denoted by η_0 in blue. We can also verify that they satisfy the full Neumann boundary condition.

Up to now, the above results are natural generalizations of the Euclidean derivation so in the next step, in analogy with section 3.4, we would like to define the Lorentzian holographic path-integral complexity $C_T^{(l)}$ and investigate which slices Q are favoured by this candidate for a relative measure of complexity.

Similarly to the Euclidean AdS_{d+1} , the dependence on tension T in the on-shell action with the tension term evaluated on (6.25) cancels. Therefore, as before, in the definition of Lorentzian complexity we will only take gravity action (without tension term) evaluated on region M. For the solution (6.25) the answer becomes

$$I_G = \frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} + \frac{V_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \frac{lT}{(d-1)\sqrt{\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1}}.$$
(6.26)

Again, for the correct variational principle we should add an appropriate Hayward term in the definition of complexity. For consistency with the notion of relative complexity, we



Figure 5. Solutions of the maximization in Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} . Timelike half-planes (6.25), shown in blue, interpolate between the boundary at T = -(d-1)/l and null plane, dashed red, in the limit of $T \to -\infty$. The counterpart of the inner angle ("rapidity") η_0 given by (6.28) is shown in blue. Spacelike half planes (6.42), shown in green, interpolate between the null sheet for $T \to -\infty$ and the t = 0 slice at T = 0. Their inner angle $\tilde{\eta}_0$, given by (6.45), is shown in green.

will again require that the Hayward term does not contribute to the complexity action when $Q \to \Sigma$. Moreover, mimicking the Euclidean construction, we will require that the Lorentzian modified Hayward term should cancel the boundary term in (6.17). These two conditions uniquely single out the candidate in terms of the "inner" rapidity parameter η_0 defined by the two normal vectors n_{Σ} and n_Q (normal to Σ and Q respectively) at the AdS boundary follows

$$I'_{H} = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\gamma} \sqrt{\gamma} \eta_0, \qquad n_{\Sigma} \cdot n_Q = -\cosh \eta_0.$$
(6.27)

For the solution (6.25), this modified Hayward term is the following function of the tension parameter

$$I'_{H} = \frac{V_{x}l^{d-1}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d-1}}\eta_{0}, \qquad \sinh \eta_{0} = \sqrt{\frac{l^{2}T^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}} - 1}.$$
(6.28)

Finally, with these two ingredients we define the Lorentzian holographic path-integral complexity as minus the sum of the two above contributions

$$\mathcal{C}_T^{(l)} = -(I_G + I'_H).$$
(6.29)

The overall minus sign is fixed so that it is consistent with the previous holographic analysis in [27]. We will test this proposal and its implications in the Lorentzian examples below.

In our first example, the Lorentzian holographic path-integral complexity becomes

$$\mathcal{C}_{T}^{(l)} = -\frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^{2}} \frac{V_{x}L_{t}}{\epsilon^{d}} - \frac{V_{x}l^{d-1}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d-1}} \left(\eta_{0} - \coth\eta_{0}\right).$$
(6.30)

Interestingly, this action is minimized in the limit $\eta_0 \to \infty$ or $T \to -\infty$. This is the light sheet surface and, in fact, it was argued to be naturally related to geometry on which

Lorentzian path-integral corresponds to MERA-type quantum circuits [21, 27]. Notice also that this optimization limit is equivalent to maximizing the absolute value of the phase of the Hartle-Hawking wave function at zero tension T = 0. This can be regarded as a Lorentzian counterpart of the optimization in the Euclidean case, where we maximize the amplitude of the Hartle-Hawking wave function.

Observe that again we chose the modified Hayward term so that in the limit of $Q \to \Sigma$ action vanishes. This is now obtained in the limit

$$\eta_0 \to \coth^{-1}\left(\frac{(d-1)L_t}{\epsilon}\right),$$
(6.31)

that generalizes the Euclidean limit (3.43).

6.1.2 Spacelike Q

Now we briefly revisit the above analysis for the spacelike surfaces Q. In this case we have instead the spacelike induced metric on Q given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{l^{2}}{f(w)^{2}} \left(dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2} \right) \equiv e^{2\phi(w)} \left(dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2} \right), \tag{6.32}$$

where we defined coordinate w with range $-\infty < w < 0$ that puts the induced metric in a conformally flat form and is expressed by relations

$$w'(t) = \sqrt{f'(t)^2 - 1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\dot{f}(w)^2 - 1}}.$$
(6.33)

The only new ingredient that we need to evaluate the action is the trace of the extrinsic curvature of Q. It is given in terms of the embedding function as

$$K|_{Q} = -\frac{f''(t)f(t) + d(f'(t)^{2} - 1)}{l(f'(t)^{2} - 1)^{3/2}},$$
(6.34)

or equivalently in terms of w and $\phi(w) = \log(l/f(w))$ as

$$K|_{Q} = -\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + (d-1)\dot{\phi}^{2}) - \frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{l^{2}\dot{\phi}^{2}e^{-2\phi} - 1}}.$$
(6.35)

The on-shell action that computes (6.2) is given in terms of w and $\phi(w)$ as

$$I_G + I_T = \frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi(w)} \left[\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + (d-2)\dot{\phi}^2) - \frac{d-1}{l}}{\sqrt{l^2\dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi} - 1}} + T \right].$$
 (6.36)

Finally, after integrating by parts, we derive the main result for spacelike Q

$$I_G + I_T = \frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} - \frac{(d-1)V_x}{l\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi(w)} G(\dot{\phi}) - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi(w)} T - \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \left[e^{(d-1)\phi} \sinh^{-1} \left(i \, l\dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right) \right]_{-\infty}^0,$$
(6.37)

with function $G(\dot{\phi})$ now given by

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \sqrt{l^2 \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi} - 1} - l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \sinh^{-1} \left(i \, l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right). \tag{6.38}$$

Observe that since these surfaces cannot reach the boundary surface Σ , we cannot perform the UV expansion $l\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi} \ll 1$ for this action.

The equation of motion from (6.36) is now given by

$$\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi}+(d-1)\dot{\phi}^2)-\frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{l^2\dot{\phi}^2e^{-2\phi}-1}} = \frac{d}{d-1}T,$$
(6.39)

which is again the trace of the Neumann boundary condition $K|_Q = \frac{d}{d-1}T$ requiring spacelike slices Q to be CMC. For the range of the tension parameter $-\infty < T < 0$ we can solve it for $\phi(w)$ that gives the metric on the spacelike Q

$$ds^{2} = \frac{l^{2}}{\left(-\sqrt{1 + \frac{l^{2}T^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}}}w + \epsilon\right)^{2}} \left(dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}\right).$$
(6.40)

These in turn are the *d*-dimensional hyperbolic slices of the Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} (6.8) and their constant negative Ricci curvature is given by

$$R^{(d)} = -\frac{d(d-1)}{l^2} \left(1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} \right) = 2\Lambda_{\text{AdS}}^{(d+1)} \left(1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} \right),$$
(6.41)

which can be computed explicitly or using (6.6).

Integrating (6.33), we can find the embedding function expressed in original coordinates

$$z = f(t) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2}} \frac{d-1}{lT} t + \epsilon.$$
(6.42)

These are half-planes that interpolate between the null sheet in the limit of $T \to -\infty$ and the t = 0 slice for T = 0, shown by green lines on figure 5.

Let us now discuss the holographic path-integral complexity (6.3) for spacelike Q. Firstly, the action without tension term in this case is given in terms of the negative tension T as

$$I_G = \frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} + \frac{V_x}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \frac{T}{(d-1)\sqrt{1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2}}}.$$
(6.43)

Secondly, we add the modified Hayward term expressed by the rapidity $\tilde{\eta}_0$ defined in terms of normal vectors n_{Σ} to timelike Σ and n_Q to spacelike Q (see figure 5) as

$$I'_{H} = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\gamma} \sqrt{\gamma} \,\tilde{\eta}_0, \qquad n_{\Sigma} \cdot n_Q = -\sinh \tilde{\eta}_0. \tag{6.44}$$

For the solution (6.42) this modified Hayward term for spacelike Q becomes

$$I'_{H} = \frac{V_{x}l^{d-1}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d-1}}\tilde{\eta}_{0} \qquad \sinh \tilde{\eta}_{0} = \frac{l|T|}{d-1}.$$
(6.45)

Let us point that for the spacelike Q this modified Hayward term was chosen slightly different than for timelike Q.²³ Indeed the on-shell value of the boundary term in (6.37) is given by

$$-\frac{V_x}{\kappa^2} \left[e^{(d-1)\phi} \sinh^{-1} \left(i \, l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right) \right]_{-\infty}^0 = -\frac{V_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \left(\sinh^{-1} \left(\frac{l|T|}{d-1} \right) + \frac{i\pi}{2} \right).$$
(6.46)

Therefore, if we insisted on canceling it, we would rather have to add the modified Hayward term (6.44) with rapidity η_0 related to $\tilde{\eta}_0$ by $\eta_0 = \tilde{\eta}_0 + \frac{\pi}{2}i$. From the perspective of our holographic complexity this would lead to complex on-shell values of $C_T^{(l)}$ with imaginary part independent on the tension T. This complexity would clearly give the same solution for optimal T but we would need to take the absolute value for the final answer to be real. Instead, since we do not consider the UV limit for spacelike Q where the above cancelation was a consistency check, for spacelike slices we propose to evaluate real-valued holographic path-integral complexity in terms of rapidity $\tilde{\eta}_0$. We will study this proposal below as well as in the de Sitter example and leave its test to more complicated time-dependent geometries for future works.

Finally, the relative holographic path-integral complexity between timelike Σ and spacelike Q for the solution (6.42) is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_T^{(l)} = -(I_G + I'_H) = -\frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d} - \frac{V_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \left(\tilde{\eta}_0 - \tanh \tilde{\eta}_0\right).$$
(6.47)

This action is minimized for $\tilde{\eta}_0 \to \infty$ or $T \to -\infty$, where the surface Q becomes light-like so the optimal slice coincides with the time-like case (6.30). Notice also that the absolute phase of the Hartle-Hawking wave function is maximized in this limit.

Let us also point the value of $\mathcal{C}_T^{(l)}$ for $\tilde{\eta}_0 = 0$ or T = 0 that is given by

$$\mathcal{C}_0^{(l)} = -\frac{(d-1)l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_t}{\epsilon^d}.$$
(6.48)

This result is different that Euclidean counterpart (3.42). Even though naively one could expect that both relative complexities are concerned with slice Q with the same induced metric, (6.48) hints on a very different nature of our Euclidean and Lorentzian complexities. We leave better understanding of this nature in the language of Euclidean and Lorentzian continuous tensor networks as an interesting future problem.

6.2 Semi-classical wave-functions in dS_{d+1}

In this section we will evaluate semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave functions (6.2) for d+1 dimensional de Sitter spacetimes, using the gravity action

$$I_G + I_T = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int_M \sqrt{-g} \left(R - 2\Lambda \right) + \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_Q \sqrt{|h|} (K - T) + \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_\Sigma \sqrt{|h|} K.$$
(6.49)

²³Perhaps it would then be more appropriate to denote it as \tilde{I}'_H but we avoid that for the sake of simplicity of our formulas and hope that it will be clear from the context which term we use.

This time, we consider a classical solution given by the de Sitter spacetime in the Poincare coordinates

$$ds^{2} = l^{2} \frac{-dt^{2} + dx^{2} + dy_{i}^{2}}{t^{2}}, \qquad (6.50)$$

where we again keep the radius l of dS_{d+1} explicit. This metric solves vacuum Einstein's equations with

$$R = \frac{d(d+1)}{l^2}, \qquad \Lambda = \Lambda_{\rm dS}^{(d+1)} = \frac{d(d-1)}{2l^2}.$$
 (6.51)

Generalization of our construction to de Sitter spacetimes will involve region M between the spacelike boundary cut-off surface Σ given by $t = -\epsilon$, that we assume is again associated with the dual theory on the fixed flat metric that specifies the state dual to (6.50),²⁴ and a surface Q defined by

$$t = h(x) < 0. (6.52)$$

The Hwartle-Hawking wavefunction will again implicitly depend on the fixed flat metric on Σ and will be an explicit functional of h(x) (or ϕ) with respect to which we will extremize it.

Our choice (convention) is such that M will be in the negative t and negative x region of the geometry (see figure 6).

The trace of extrinsic curvature of Σ will always be given by $K_{\Sigma} = -d/l$. For surfaces Q we again assume the translational invariance in y_i directions and write their infinite volumes as V_y . Similarly to AdS_{d+1} , we will now consider the two cases of timelike and spacelike Q's separately.

6.2.1 Timelike Q

For the timelike surface Q we get the induced metric

$$ds^{2} = l^{2} \frac{-(h'^{2} - 1)dx^{2} + dy_{i}^{2}}{h^{2}} \equiv e^{2\phi} \left(-dw^{2} + dy_{i}^{2}\right), \qquad (6.53)$$

where we introduced conformal coordinate w with range $-\infty < w < 0$. In this example, it is related to x by derivatives

$$w'(x) = \sqrt{h'^2 - 1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\dot{h}^2 - 1}},\tag{6.54}$$

where as in previous examples we denote $h' = \partial_x h(x)$ and $\dot{h} = \partial_w h(w)$.

The relevant trace of extrinsic curvature on Q can then be computed in terms of h(x) or $\phi(w)$ as

$$K|_{Q} = \frac{h''h + d(h'^{2} - 1)}{l(h'^{2} - 1)^{3/2}} = \frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + (d - 1)\dot{\phi}^{2}) - \frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{l^{2}e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^{2} - 1}}.$$
(6.55)

Observe that in accordance with [87], this result can be formally obtained from its AdS counterpart (6.14) by continuation $l_{dS} = -il_{AdS}$.

 $^{^{24}{\}rm This}$ seems like a natural assumption but it is possible that holography for dS works in a completely different manner as the AdS counterpart.

With these ingredients, we have the on-shell action in the Lorentzian semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave function (6.2) in de Sitter geometry (6.50)

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{(d-1)V_y L_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_y}{\kappa^2} \int dx \frac{l^d}{h^d} w'(x) \left(K|_Q - \frac{1}{lw'(x)} - T \right).$$
(6.56)

More explicitly, we can write the action in terms of w and $\phi(w)$ as

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{(d-1)V_y L_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_y}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi} \left[\frac{l e^{-2\phi} (\ddot{\phi} + (d-2)\dot{\phi}^2) - \frac{d-1}{l}}{\sqrt{l^2 e^{-2\phi} \dot{\phi}^2 - 1}} - T \right], \quad (6.57)$$

and comparing to the AdS counterpart, we have a formal relation $l_{dS} = -il_{AdS}$ for the action of Q.

As for the spacelike AdS_{d+1} , we can rewrite it in the first derivative form as follows

$$I_{G} + I_{T} = -\frac{(d-1)V_{y}L_{x}l^{d-1}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d}} + \frac{(d-1)V_{y}}{l\kappa^{2}}\int dw e^{d\phi(w)}G(\dot{\phi}) - \frac{V_{y}}{\kappa^{2}}\int dw e^{d\phi(w)}T + \frac{V_{y}}{\kappa^{2}}\left[e^{(d-1)\phi}\sinh^{-1}\left(i\,l\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}\right)\right]_{-\infty}^{0},$$
(6.58)

with the function

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \sqrt{l^2 \dot{\phi}^2 e^{-2\phi} - 1} - l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \sinh^{-1} \left(i \, l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right). \tag{6.59}$$

The form of $G(\dot{\phi})$ is analogous to the one for spacelike surfaces in Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} (6.38) and the reason that we cannot expand it for $\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}$ is a manifestation of the fact that timelike slices in Lorentzian de Sitter geometry will not reach the spacelike boundary Σ (see figure 6).

The maximization of the Hartle-Hawking wave function again leads to the CMC constraint in de Sitter geometry

$$\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi}+(d-1)\dot{\phi}^2)-\frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{l^2e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^2-1}} = \frac{d}{d-1}T,$$
(6.60)

and in equivalent to imposing the Neumann boundary condition on Q.

This equation with boundary condition $h(0) = -\epsilon$ can be solved for the range of tension parameter $0 < T < +\infty$ by $\phi(w)$ that corresponds to the induced metric on Q

$$ds^{2} = \frac{l^{2}}{\left(\sqrt{1 + \frac{l^{2}T^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}}}w - \epsilon\right)^{2}} \left(-dw^{2} + dy_{i}^{2}\right).$$
(6.61)

These timelike geometries are the *d*-dimensional de Sitter slices of the (d + 1)-dimensional de Sitter geometry (6.50). Their constant positive Ricci scalar curvature is given by

$$R^{(d)} = \frac{d(d-1)}{l^2} \left(1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} \right) = \Lambda_{\rm dS}^{(d+1)} \left(1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} \right), \tag{6.62}$$

which is indeed the result (6.6) for timelike slices in dS_{d+1} spacetime.



Figure 6. Solutions in Lorentzian dS_{d+1} . Timelike half-planes (6.63), shown in blue, interpolate between the timelike plane x = 0 at T = 0 and null plane, dashed red, in the limit of $T \to +\infty$. Their inner angle ξ_0 given by (6.65) is shown in blue. Spacelike half planes (6.79), shown in green, interpolate between the spacelike boundary Σ at T = (d-1)/l and the null sheet for $T \to +\infty$. Their inner angle $\tilde{\xi}_0$, given by (6.81), is shown in green.

Integrating (6.54), and finding w(x) allows us to write the embedding function for this surface given by

$$t = h(x) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2}} \frac{d-1}{lT} x - \epsilon.$$
 (6.63)

These are the half-planes shown in figure 6 in blue and we can verify that they satisfy the full Neumann boundary condition. Up to this point the results are naturally in parallel with the computation in Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} .

Finally, following steps from the previous section, we compute the Lorentzian holographic path-integral complexity in this de Sitter setup. As we discussed, the rules for holography in de Sitter spacetimes may be completely different than those in standard AdS/CFT therefore using the same proposal for the holographic path-integral complexity seems far from obvious. Nevertheless, given the universality of definition (6.3), we assume/conjecture its validity beyond AdS/CFT, straightforwardly evaluate it and examine the consistency of the result.

The first ingredient is the on-shell gravity action computed without the tension term in region M of de Sitter geometry and for solution (6.63) it becomes

$$I_G = -\frac{(d-1)V_y L_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_y l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \frac{lT}{(d-1)\sqrt{1 + \frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2}}}.$$
(6.64)

Then, naturally adapting the computation for spacelike slices in AdS_{d+1} , the modified Hayward term for timelike Q in de Sitter spacetime is given by

$$I'_{H} = -\frac{V_{y}l^{d-1}}{\epsilon^{d-1}}\xi_{0}, \qquad \sinh \xi_{0} = \frac{lT}{d-1}, \tag{6.65}$$

where the angle between two surfaces Σ and Q is given by $n_{\Sigma} \cdot n_Q = -\sinh \xi_0$.

Note that the boundary term in the action (6.58) is given on-shell by

$$\frac{V_y}{\kappa^2} \left[e^{(d-1)\phi} \sinh^{-1} \left(i \, l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right) \right]_{-\infty}^0 = \frac{V_y l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \left(\sinh^{-1} \left(\frac{lT}{d-1} \right) + \frac{i\pi}{2} \right).$$
(6.66)

and again we chose the angle ξ_0 so that we end up with real value of holographic pathintegral complexity.

Adding the them up we arrive at the following result in de Sitter spacetime

$$I_G + I'_H = -\frac{(d-1)V_y L_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_y l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} (\tanh \xi_0 - \xi_0).$$
(6.67)

If we continue to employ the definition of gravitational complexity (6.3) in the Lorentzian signature, we obtain $\mathcal{C}_T^{(l)} = -(I_G + I'_H)$ which is a minus (6.67). Interestingly, this complexity $\mathcal{C}_T^{(l)}[dS]$ for the time-like surface in dS_{d+1} is equal to $-\mathcal{C}_T^{(l)}[AdS]$ of the complexity for the space-like surface in AdS_{d+1} given by (6.47) if we relate ξ_0 to $\tilde{\eta}_0$. This might suggest that the optimization in the de Sitter case is opposite to the AdS case i.e. the maximization of the complexity, which leads to the limit $\xi_0 \to \infty$. This is equivalent to our claim, common to the AdS case, that the optimization corresponds to the maximization of the absolute value of phase factor of Hartle-Hawing wave function.

Similarly to (6.48), the holographic path-integral complexity in dS_{d+1} for timelike Q would give only the divergent contribution as $\xi_0 \to 0$ or T = 0. Interpretation of this result in terms of continuous tensor networks in CFTs dual to de Sitter spacetime is certainly an interesting future problem too.

6.2.2 Spacelike Q

The same computation can be repeated for spacelike surface Q: t = h(x) on which we get the induced metric

$$ds^{2} = l^{2} \frac{(1 - h'^{2})dx^{2} + dy_{i}^{2}}{h^{2}} \equiv e^{2\phi} \left(dw^{2} + dy_{i}^{2} \right),$$
(6.68)

where we introduced the conformal coordinate w with range $-\infty < w < 0$ related to x via derivatives

$$w'(x) = \sqrt{1 - h'^2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \dot{h}^2}}.$$
(6.69)

The trace of the extrinsic curvature for spacelike Q in de Sitter spacetime (6.50) is now given in terms of h(x) and $\phi(w)$ as

$$K|_{Q} = \frac{-hh'' + d(1 - h'^{2})}{l(1 - h'^{2})^{3/2}} = \frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi} + (d - 1)\dot{\phi}^{2}) + \frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{1 + l^{2}e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^{2}}},$$
(6.70)

where as before $h' = \partial_x h(x)$ and $\dot{\phi} = \partial_w \phi(w)$. Again, this result can be formally obtained from its AdS counterpart (6.35) by continuation $l_{\rm dS} = -i l_{\rm AdS}$ [87].

The analog of the gravity action with tension term that computes the Hartle-Hawking wave function (6.2) between spacelike Σ and spacelike Q is then

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{(d-1)V_y L_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_y}{\kappa^2} \int dw e^{d\phi} \left[\frac{l e^{-2\phi} (\ddot{\phi} + (d-2)\dot{\phi}^2) + \frac{d-1}{l}}{\sqrt{1 + l^2 e^{-2\phi} \dot{\phi}^2}} - T \right].$$
 (6.71)

Comparing with spacelike AdS action, we again get the formal continuation $l_{\rm dS} \rightarrow -i l_{\rm AdS}$ for the action on Q.

As for timelike AdS_{d+1} , integrating by parts, yields the action in the first derivative form

$$I_{G} + I_{T} = -\frac{(d-1)V_{y}L_{x}l^{d-1}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d}} + \frac{(d-1)V_{y}}{l\kappa^{2}}\int dw e^{d\phi}G(\dot{\phi}) - \frac{V_{y}}{\kappa^{2}}\int dw e^{2\phi}T + \frac{V_{y}}{\kappa^{2}}\left[e^{(d-1)\phi(w)}\sinh^{-1}\left(l\dot{\phi}e^{-\phi}\right)\right]_{-\infty}^{0},$$
(6.72)

where the monotonic function $G(\dot{\phi})$ is now

$$G(\dot{\phi}) = \sqrt{1 + l^2 e^{-2\phi} \dot{\phi}^2} - l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \sinh^{-1} \left(l \dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right).$$
(6.73)

This time, since spacelike surfaces Q are again connected to the spacelike boundary Σ , we can consider the analog of the "UV limit" and expand $G(\dot{\phi})$ for small $\dot{\phi}$. The combination that appears in the action for Q becomes in this limit

$$e^{d\phi}G(\dot{\phi}) \simeq \frac{1}{2}l^2 e^{(d-2)\phi} \left[-\dot{\phi}^2 + \frac{2}{l^2} \ e^{2\phi} + O(\dot{\phi}^4) \right].$$
 (6.74)

Interestingly, in two dimensions (d = 2), this action corresponds to the following form of the timelike Liouville theory action [81–83] on an Euclidean flat space

$$S_{\rm TL} = \frac{c}{24\pi} \int d^2x \left[-(\partial_\tau \phi)^2 - (\partial_x \phi)^2 + \mu e^{2\phi} \right].$$
 (6.75)

This observation offers a hint on how a holographic dual of de Sitter space looks like. The dual CFT seems to lead to the above timelike Liouville theory rather than the conventional Liouville theory.²⁵ We will comment more on this action in the next section.

The equation from the maximization of $I_G + I_T$ is again given by the CMC condition

$$\frac{le^{-2\phi}(\ddot{\phi}+(d-1)\dot{\phi}^2)+\frac{d}{l}}{\sqrt{1+l^2e^{-2\phi}\dot{\phi}^2}} = \frac{d}{d-1}T.$$
(6.76)

We can solve it with the boundary condition $h(0) = -\epsilon$ for positive $(d-1)/l < T < +\infty$ and we find $\phi(w)$ as well as the metric on spacelike Q given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{l^{2}}{\left(\sqrt{\frac{T^{2}l^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}} - 1} w - \epsilon\right)^{2}} \left(dw^{2} + dy_{i}^{2}\right).$$
(6.77)

These are the *d*-dimensional hyperbolic slices of the (d + 1)-dimensional de Sitter space (6.50). Their constant negative curvature is computed as

$$R^{(d)} = -\frac{d(d-1)}{l^2} \left(\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1 \right) = -\Lambda_{\rm dS}^{(d+1)} \left(\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1 \right), \tag{6.78}$$

and agrees with (6.6) for d-dimensional spacelke slices of the dS_{d+1} spacetime.

²⁵If we add the tension term, then the UV limit of the total action $I_G + I_T$ gives the cosmological constant $\mu = 2 - \frac{2T}{d-1}$, where we set l = 1. For this range of the tension we have $\mu < 0$ and this is the reason why the dS_d solutions for the surface Q are obtained.

Integrating w'(x) in (6.69) allows us to rewrite the embedding function h(x) for spacelike Q as

$$t = h(x) = \sqrt{\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1} \frac{d-1}{lT} x - \epsilon,$$
(6.79)

that represents half-planes, shown in figure 6 in green, that interpolate between the nullsheet and the spacelike boundary Σ . Again both h(x) and (6.77) solve the full Neumann boundary conditions on the spacelike Q.

Finally, we finish by computing the Lorentzian path-integral complexity in this example. First, the on-shell gravity action without the tension term evaluated on the solution (6.79) is given by

$$I_G = -\frac{(d-1)V_y L_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_y l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \frac{lT}{(d-1)\sqrt{\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1}}.$$
(6.80)

By analogy with the timelike Q in AdS_{d+1} , we can now evaluate the modified Hayward term expressed in terms of rapidity $\tilde{\xi}_0$

$$I'_{H} = -\frac{V_{y}l^{d-1}}{\kappa^{2}\epsilon^{d-1}}\tilde{\xi}_{0}, \qquad \sinh\tilde{\xi}_{0} = \sqrt{\frac{l^{2}T^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}} - 1}, \tag{6.81}$$

where the $\tilde{\xi}_0$ is defined in terms of unit normal vectors n_{Σ} and n_Q to spacelike surfaces Σ and Q as $n_{\Sigma} \cdot n_Q = -\cosh \tilde{\xi}_0$.

Observe that this modified Hayward term plays the same role as its counterpart for timelike Q in Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} and precisely cancels the on-shell boundary term in (6.72) that reads

$$\frac{V_y}{\kappa^2} \left[e^{(d-1)\phi(w)} \sinh^{-1} \left(l\dot{\phi} e^{-\phi} \right) \right]_{-\infty}^0 = \frac{V_y l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} \sinh^{-1} \left(\sqrt{\frac{l^2 T^2}{(d-1)^2} - 1} \right).$$
(6.82)

Adding the two contributions we arrive a the following result

$$I_G + I'_H = -\frac{(d-1)V_y L_x l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^d} + \frac{V_y l^{d-1}}{\kappa^2 \epsilon^{d-1}} (\coth \tilde{\xi}_0 - \tilde{\xi}_0).$$
(6.83)

As in the time-like surface case, if we employ the definition of gravitational complexity (6.3) in the Lorentzian signature, we obtain $C_T^{(l)} = -(I_G + I'_H)$ which is minus of (6.83). Interestingly, this complexity $C_T^{(l)}[dS]$ for the space-like surface Q in dS_{d+1} is equal to $-C_T^{(l)}[AdS]$ of the complexity for the time-like surface in AdS_{d+1} given by (6.30) if we relate $\tilde{\xi}_0$ to η_0 . This again may imply that the optimization in the de Sitter case is opposite to the AdS case i.e. the maximization of the complexity, which leads to the limit $\tilde{\xi}_0 \to \infty$. In this limit, the surface Q becomes light-like. This is equivalent to the claim common to the AdS case that the optimization corresponds to the maximization of the absolute value of phase factor of Hartle-Hawing wave function.

As before, the Hayward term (6.81) was chosen such that the holographic path-integral complexity vanishes in the limit of $Q \to \Sigma$ corresponding to $\tilde{\xi}_0 \to 0$. In this example, this limit should be taken carefully as

$$\tilde{\xi}_0 \to \coth^{-1}\left(\frac{(d-1)L_x}{\epsilon}\right).$$
(6.84)

This concludes the Lorentzian examples and in the next section we will employ these results in order to draw new lessons for path-integral optimization in Lorentzian CFTs.

6.3 Towards Lorentzian path-integral optimization

After getting some intuition and motivation from the gravity computations in the two sections above, we are now ready revisit the idea of extracting geometry from Lorentzian path-integrals in CFT. In this section we will discuss one possible approach to Lorentzian path-integrals and their optimization that naturally leads to Lorentzian AdS geometries. Furthermore, we will speculate on the timelike Liouville action derived above that gives rise to de Sitter metrics. For simplicity we focus on two spacetime dimensions.

While Euclidean path-integrals define states in quantum field theories (QFT), their Lorentzian conterparts serve as natural description of transition amplitudes. Indeed given a QFT Hamiltonian

$$H = \int dx \,\mathcal{H}(\varphi(x), \pi(x)), \tag{6.85}$$

and a quantum field $\varphi(t, x)$ which has eigenstates

$$\hat{\varphi}(t,x) |\varphi(x),t\rangle = \varphi(t,x) |\varphi(x),t\rangle, \qquad (6.86)$$

we define a transition amplitude between two field values φ_i , i = 1, 2 at two given times t_i , using Lorentzian path-integrals

$$\langle \varphi_f(x), t_f | \varphi_i(x), t_i \rangle = \langle \varphi_f(x) | e^{i\hat{H}(t_f - t_i)} | \varphi_i(x) \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\varphi(t_f, x) = \varphi_i(x)}^{\varphi(t_f, x) = \varphi_f(x)} [D\varphi] [D\pi] e^{i \int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt dx [\pi \dot{\varphi} - \mathcal{H}(\varphi, \pi)]}$$

$$= \int_{\varphi(t_f, x) = \varphi_f(x)}^{\varphi(t_f, x) = \varphi_f(x)} [D\varphi] e^{i \int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt dx \mathcal{L}},$$

$$(6.87)$$

where \mathcal{L} is the Lorentzian Lagrangian of the theory.

Now, we can naturally generalize the optimization procedure for the transition amplitudes by performing the above path-integral of a unitary CFT on a general two dimensional Lorentzian background

$$ds^{2} = e^{2\phi(x,t)} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} = e^{2\phi(x,t)} \left(-dt^{2} + dx^{2} \right), \qquad (6.88)$$

and, by analogy to the ratio of the wave functions (2.4), define the ratio of transition amplitudes by

$$\frac{\langle \varphi_f(x), t_f | \varphi_i(x), t_i \rangle_{e^{2\phi} \eta}}{\langle \varphi_f(x), t_f | \varphi_i(x), t_i \rangle_{\eta}} \equiv e^{-iS_L^{(l)}[\phi, \eta]},$$
(6.89)

where $S_L^{(l)}$ is the Liouville action on a Lorentzian space, explicitly given by (6.20) as explained in appendix A.

We could then regard $-S_L^{(l)}$ with $\mu = 1$ defined this way as Lorentzian path-integral complexity that, when optimized, determines a continuous tensor network built from generally both spacelike and timelike tensors. The reason why we put a minus sign is because

when we consider the flat metric $e^{\phi} = 1/\epsilon$, which corresponds to the original path-integral before the optimization, $S_L^{(l)}$ gets negatively divergent.

The next step, i.e. optimization of this action, boils down to solving the Liouville equation of motion

$$4\partial_+\partial_-\phi = \mu e^{2\phi},\tag{6.90}$$

where $x_{\pm} = x \pm t$, which is equivalent to the condition for constant curvature of the optimal surface $R = -2\mu$. The most general solution to (6.90) is given by

$$e^{2\phi(x^+,x^-)} = \frac{4A'(x^+)B'(x^-)}{\mu(1-A(x^+)B(x^-))^2},$$
(6.91)

and this would be the family of networks achievable with this procedure.

As in the Euclidean AdS case, the Lorentzian Hartle-Hawking result receives finite cutoff corrections. Indeed, the analysis in the previous subsection shows that the optimization in gravity which minimizes $C_T^{(l)}$ in Lorentzian AdS is given by the limit $\eta_0 \to \infty$, where the surface Q becomes light-like i.e. $e^{2\phi} \to 0$. The light-like surface in the Lorentzian AdS has been argued to describe the MERA network [20, 21, 27]. Thus, the analysis of path-integral optimization using the Hartle-Hawking wave function suggests that MERA-type networks may be the most optimized quantum circuits which produce the CFT ground states.

Next we move on to the path-integral optimization in the de Sitter gravity dual. In this case we expect that the dual Euclidean CFT is no longer unitary as long as we keep the standard notion of dS/CFT [86, 87], where the dual CFT is expected to live on the space-like future boundary of de Sitter spacetime. Therefore, field theoretic calculations of transition amplitudes like (6.89) are not available. However, the gravity analysis in de Sitter suggests that the path-integral complexity functional is given by a finite cut-off corrected version of the timelike Liouville theory S_{TL} (6.75) on a Euclidean flat space. This was derived from the gravity action for a spacelike surface Q situated closely to the dS boundary Σ . The equation of motion of S_{TL} reads

$$(\partial_{\tau}^2 + \partial_x^2)\phi = -\mu e^{2\phi},\tag{6.92}$$

and its solutions are surfaces with constant curvature $R = 2\mu$. If we believe the dS/CFT, this implies that there exists a class of (perhaps non-unitary) Euclidean CFTs which leads to the timelike Liouville theory when we perform a path-integral on a curved manifold to calculate a partition function.

In the gravity calculations, solutions for spacelike surfaces Q in de Sitter (for a non-zero tension T) are given by hyperbolic spaces as in (6.77). This arises as solutions to (6.92) for $\mu < 0$. Again, the actual complexity computed from the gravity dual includes the finite cut-off corrections. The gravity calculations in the previous subsection leads to an interesting result that holographic path-integral complexity in dS_{d+1} is given by the minus of the complexity in AdS_{d+1} . Following the general optimization idea for Lorentzian CFTs, we maximize the absolute value of the phase of Hartle-Hawking wave function. This leads to the optimized solution given by the light-like limit $\xi_0 \to \infty$ of the surface Q. In this case, the complexity for dS_{d+1} , defined as in the Lorentzian AdS case, is maximized rather

than minimized. This might be either because our definition of complexity in the dS case is not appropriate or because the Euclidean CFT dual to a de Sitter space is ill-behaved. We would like to leave further considerations of the dS/CFT case, which include tensor network interpretations of this null surface in de Sitter space, as a future problem.

7 Tension as an emergent time

In this last section we would like to present an interesting observation about slices Q that optimize Hartle-Hawking wave functions for a fixed value of the tension parameter T. Namely, in all the examples studied above, surfaces Q provide natural foliations of the d + 1 dimensional AdS and dS spacetimes, once we regard their induced metric as a function of T. Recall that we originally introduced the tension parameter to construct intermediate configurations of the surface Q, between the (most unoptimal) boundary Σ and the fully optimized solution reached in the $T \to 0$ limit (e.g. in the Euclidean cases). As we will see below, this suggests that the tension parameter, which quantifies how much we optimize the path-integral, plays a role of an emergent time. We believe that this interesting interpretation may shed an important new light on the emergence of time from tensor networks. Below we summarize few mathematical structures that are revealed in our analysis. For simplicity, we list examples from Poincare coordinates and set l = 1.

7.1 Euclidean AdS

The Euclidean Poincare AdS_{d+1} (= H_{d+1}) metric can be written in a form

$$ds^{2} = d\rho_{H}^{2} + e^{2\phi(\rho_{H},w)}(dw^{2} + dx_{i}^{2}), \qquad (7.1)$$

with the Weyl factor

$$e^{2\phi(\rho_H,w)} = \frac{\cosh^2 \rho_H}{w^2},$$
(7.2)

where ϕ is the solution of the path-integral optimization on a Euclidean flat space with the tension T (3.31). Then the radial coordinate can be identified with the tension parameter $(-(d-1) < T \leq 0)$

$$\cosh \rho_H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{T^2}{(d-1)^2}}},\tag{7.3}$$

or equivalently

$$|T| = (d-1)\tanh\rho_H. \tag{7.4}$$

This is in fact a standard relation from AdS/BCFT [63, 64].

7.2 Lorentzian AdS

Analogously, the Lorentzian Poincare AdS_{d+1} can be written as a union of the following two spacetimes

$$ds_{(1)}^2 = d\rho_{A1}^2 + e^{2\phi(\rho_{A1},w)} \left(-dw^2 + dx_i^2\right), \tag{7.5}$$

with the Weyl factor

$$e^{2\phi(\rho_{A1},w)} = \frac{\sinh^2 \rho_{A1}}{w^2},\tag{7.6}$$

as well as

$$ds_{(2)}^2 = -d\rho_{A2}^2 + e^{2\phi(\rho_{A2},w)} \left(dw^2 + dx_i^2 \right), \tag{7.7}$$

with the Weyl factor

$$e^{2\phi(\rho_{A2},w)} = \frac{\sin^2 \rho_{A2}}{w^2}.$$
(7.8)

Again, we can interpret the above ϕ as solutions of the path-integral optimization on a Lorentzian flat space with non-trivial tension parameters (6.23) and (6.40) respectively (see figure 5 for these slices).

Indeed, the radial coordinate in (7.5) can be identified with the tension parameter as

$$\coth \rho_{A1} = \frac{|T|}{d-1},\tag{7.9}$$

for $-\infty < T < -(d-1)$. Similarly, the radial coordinate in (7.7) can be identified as

$$\cot \rho_{A2} = \frac{|T|}{d-1},\tag{7.10}$$

for $-\infty < T \leq 0$.

It is worth stressing that the coordinate ρ_{A2} is time like. This implies a real time can emerge from the Euclidean CFT path-integral on a hyperbolic plane, where the time estimates the amount of cut off scale of the Euclidean CFT.

7.3 Lorentzian dS

Finally, the Poincare dS_{d+1} can be written equivalently as a union of the following two spacetimes

$$ds_{(1)}^2 = d\rho_{D1}^2 + e^{2\phi(\rho_{D1},w)} \left(-dw^2 + dx_i^2\right), \qquad (7.11)$$

with the Weyl factor

$$e^{2\phi(\rho_{D1},w)} = \frac{\sin^2 \rho_{D1}}{w^2},\tag{7.12}$$

as well as

$$ds_{(2)}^2 = -d\rho_{D2}^2 + e^{2\phi(\rho_{D2},w)} \left(dw^2 + dx_i^2 \right), \qquad (7.13)$$

with the Weyl factor

$$e^{2\phi(\rho_{D2},w)} = \frac{\sinh^2 \rho_{D2}}{w^2}.$$
(7.14)

Notice that the above ϕ is identical to the solution of the path-integral optimization on a Lorentzian flat space with the tension parameter, related to the time-like Liouville theory.

The two solutions above correspond to (6.61) and (6.77) respectively (see figure 6 for these slices). This way, the radial coordinate in (7.11) can be identified with the tension parameter as

$$\cot \rho_{D1} = \frac{T}{d-1},$$
(7.15)

for $0 \leq T < \infty$. On the other hand, the radial coordinate in (7.13) can be identified as

$$\coth \rho_{D2} = \frac{T}{d-1},\tag{7.16}$$

for $(d-1) < T < \infty$. Notice that ρ_{D2} provides a time-like coordinate and this may provide a mechanism of emergence of real time from an Euclidean CFT.

All these suggestive ways of re-writing of AdS_{d+1} as well as dS_{d+1} appear to be hinting on the physical interpretation of T as time from tensor networks. If this intuition is correct, it would not only further support status of path-integral optimization as a tool to extract holographic geometry from CFT states but also help us to understand more general slices of fully dynamical holographic spacetimes [27]. Unfortunately, at present, we do not have a precise understanding of the microscopic mechanism behind this emergence of time. For example, we still do not know how the metric component in the tension direction (i.e. g_{TT}) would emerge from CFTs and hope return to this important problem in the future works.

8 Conclusions

In this work, we further developed the recent proposal for interpreting the path-integral optimization [1] from the perspective of the AdS/CFT correspondence. The key role in our construction is played by the semi-classical Hartle-Hawking wave functions, computed by gravity action in a wedge region from the asymptotic boundary Σ up to a surface Q on which we included an extra tension term. For Euclidean AdS geometries, we maximized Hartle-Hawking wave-functions that lead to the condition which is equivalent to Neumann boundary condition imposed on Q. By solving this constraint we fixed the shape of Q, i.e. induced metric on Q.

We analyzed various important examples in AdS_3 as well as higher-dimensional holographic geometries and found that these "maximal" metrics on Q coincide with those previously found by the path-integral optimization procedure in CFTs [37, 38]. Moreover, we found that the gravity action provides a complete form of the path-integral complexity functional which includes finite cut-off corrections. In particular, in three dimensions, the gravity action yields a finite cut-off corrected version of the Liouville action on a Euclidean space. On the other hand, in higher dimensions, we managed to reproduce the conjectured path-integral complexity functional after taking the UV limit (removing finite cut-off corrections). This way, along the lines of [27], we see that the minimization of the full path-integral complexity, equivalent to the maximization of Hartle-Hawking wave function, leads to the optimal non-unitary quantum circuit which prepares CFT states.

In the latter half of this paper, we generalized the analysis of Hartle-Hawking wave function to Lorentzian AdS and dS spacetimes. The guiding principle was that the optimization is realized by maximizing the absolute value of the phase of the Hartle-Hawking wave function, which also computes relative holographic path-integral complexity in the Lorentzian construction. For the Lorentzian AdS_3 , we found that the complexity functional obtained from the gravity calculation can be regarded as a Liouville action on a Lorentzian space plus finite cut-off corrections. Notably, we found that the optimization of the gravitational complexity functional leads to a light-like metric on the surface Q. This implies that the most optimal unitary quantum circuit which realizes the CFT vacuum is the MERA-like tensor network (as also noticed in [21, 27]).

It is important to stress that we find two definitions of complexity: the complexity based on the Euclidean path-integral as well as complexity based on the Lorentzian pathintegral, which are denoted by $C_T^{(e)}$ and $C_T^{(l)}$, respectively. They are different in that when we consider e.g. a CFT vacuum, we can easily see $C_T^{(e)} \neq C_T^{(l)}$, by comparing the Euclidean result (3.42) and the Lorentzian result (6.30) in the $\eta_0 \to \infty$ limit. It is also useful to note that the leading divergence $\sim O(\epsilon^{-d})$ of (3.42) agrees with that of (6.30) and that this negative divergence arises because we consider a difference of complexity between a given path-integral and the original un-optimized path-integral corresponding to uniform $e^{\phi} =$ $1/\epsilon$. It is curious to note that these two different definitions of complexity look "analogous" to what is happening in the holographic counterparts [39, 40]. Indeed, the "complexity = volume" proposal behaves similarly as the Euclidean path-integral complexity $C_T^{(e)}$, while the "complexity = action" proposal resembles the Lorentzian path-integral complexity $C_T^{(l)}$. It is still though an open problem to make a precise connection (if at all) between this work and the two leading holographic proposals.

Finally we studied Hartle-Hawking wave functions in the Lorentzian de Sitter space. For dS₃, the gravitational complexity functional leads to the action of timelike Liouville theory plus finite cut-off corrections on a Euclidean space. Its optimization again points to a light-like metric on the optimal surface Q. Even though our understanding of the dS/CFT correspondence is much more limited comparing to the AdS/CFT, it is at least clear that one of the most important aspects of dS/CFT is an emergence of time from a Euclidean CFT. We expect that such a CFT may be exotic and non-unitary since gravity duals of standard unitary and well-behaved CFTs should be the Euclidean AdS geometries (or equally hyperbolic spaces). Our result suggests that partition function of such exotic CFT on a curved space is described by a timelike Liouville theory. Moreover, the pathintegral optimization using the Hartle-Hawking wave function at least shows an emergence of a light cone from Euclidean CFTs.

At the same time, we also noted that the full AdS and dS spacetimes can be regarded as foliations of the surface Q for various values of the tension T. In this context, the tension parameter plays the role of an emergent time in gravity duals. We are certain that our analysis provides important hints for understanding the emergent time in dS/CFT and we would like to come back to this deep problem with more understandings in future works.

There are many remaining open problems and interesting directions for further exploration in this program. To list a few, it will be very interesting to better understand and develop the Lorentzian setups that include matter and non-trivial dynamics as well as those that deal with de Sitter geometries. The connection between our setup with CMC slices and holographic tensor networks from TT-deformations [31] also deserves further study, and may offer a way to definite finite cut-off corrections to the Liouville complexity action in order to match the correct holographic path-integral complexity. Understanding the role of the tension term (possibly its relation to the York time complexity proposals [84, 85]) and, more generally, the emergence of time from tensor networks remains another interesting open problem. Last but not least, exploring quantum aspects of the Hartle-Hawking wave functions and their connection to tensor networks is one of the most interesting directions that we hope to address in the near future.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Shira Chapman, Sumit Das, Diptarka Das, Maciej Kolanowski, Masamichi Miyaji, Pratik Nandy, Dimitris Patramanis, Onkar Parrikar, Yoshiki Sato and Joan Simon for useful discussions and comments on the draft. TT is supported by Grantin-Aid for JSPS Fellows No. 19F19813. TT is supported by the Simons Foundation through the "It from Qubit" collaboration. TT is supported by Inamori Research Institute for Science and World Premier International Research Center Initiative (WPI Initiative) from the Japan Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT). TT is supported by JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) No. 16H02182. TT is also supported by JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Challenging Research (Exploratory) 18K18766. PC, DG and JB are supported by NAWA "Polish Returns 2019" and NCN Sonata Bis 9 grants.

A Lorentzian determinant

In this section, following [91] we directly evaluate the Jacobian of transformation of pathintegral measure after placing it on Lorentzian metric

$$ds^{2} = e^{2\phi(x,t)} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} = e^{2\phi(x,t)} \left(-dt^{2} + dx^{2} \right).$$
(A.1)

We will need the curvature of this metric is given by 26

$$R = -2e^{-2\phi} \left(-\partial_t^2 + \partial_x^2 \right) \phi = -2e^{-2\phi} \Delta \phi.$$
 (A.2)

More precisely, we compute the Jacobian of the transformation $g=e^{2\phi}\eta$

$$J = \frac{\delta g(x)}{\delta \eta(x')} = e^{2\phi(x)} \delta^{(2)}(x - x'),$$
 (A.3)

under which the path-integral measure changes as

$$[D\varphi]_{e^{2\phi}\eta} = [D\varphi]_{\eta} \det(J) \equiv [D\varphi]_{\eta} e^{S_{\text{eff}}[\phi,\eta]}.$$
(A.4)

$$R = e^{-2\phi} \left(\hat{R} - 2\Delta\phi \right).$$

 $^{^{26}}$ More generally, for Lorentzian reference metric $ds^2 = e^{2\phi} \hat{g}_{ij} dx^i dx^j$ we have

The effective action is then given by

$$S_{\text{eff}}[\phi, \eta] = \ln(\det(J)). \tag{A.5}$$

In order to compute it, we take the variation with respect to ϕ

$$\delta S_{\text{eff}} = \delta \ln(\det(J)) \equiv \delta tr(\ln J) = 2 \int d^2 x \delta^{(2)}(0) \delta \phi(x).$$
 (A.6)

The delta function $\delta^{(2)}(0)$ is divergent and can be regularized by e.g. the Lorentzian heatkernel method

$$\delta^{(2)}(0) = K_L(\epsilon, x, x) \simeq i\sqrt{g} \left(\frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon} + \frac{1}{24\pi}R + O(\epsilon)\right).$$
(A.7)

This way we have

$$\delta S_{\text{eff}} = 2i \int d^2 x \sqrt{g} \left(\frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon} + \frac{1}{24\pi} e^{-2\phi} \left(\hat{R} - 2\Delta\phi \right) \right) \delta\phi.$$
(A.8)

For the metric (A.1), after integrating over ϕ , integrating by parts and shifting ϕ to set the coefficient of the potential to 1 we arrive at

$$S_{\text{eff}}[\phi,\eta] = \frac{i}{24\pi} \int d^2x \left(-(\partial_t \phi)^2 + (\partial_x \phi)^2 + e^{2\phi} \right) + O(\epsilon).$$
(A.9)

This effective action is related to the Lorentzian Liouville action that we discussed in the main text by

$$S_{\text{eff}}[\phi,\eta] = -iS_L^{(l)}[\phi,\eta], \qquad (A.10)$$

where $S_L^{(l)}$ is the standard Liouville action on a Lorentzian flat space (6.20).

B Inhomogeneous slices in AdS_3

In this section we discuss more general, inhomogeneous, surfaces Q and solutions of Neumann boundary condition on slices of AdS_3 in Poincare coordinates

$$ds^2 = \frac{d\eta^2 + dZd\bar{Z}}{\eta^2},\tag{B.1}$$

where we introduced complex coordinates $Z = \tau + ix$.

B.1 Action and solutions

We will now consider a general surface Q defined by $\eta = f(Z, \overline{Z})$ and evaluate the Hartle-Hawking wave function in region M from the boundary Σ at $z = \epsilon$ up to the inhomogeneous Q with induced metric h_{ij} given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{f^{2}} \left[(\partial f)^{2} dZ^{2} + (1 + 2\partial f \bar{\partial} f) dZ d\bar{Z} + (\bar{\partial} f)^{2} d\bar{Z}^{2} \right].$$
(B.2)

It will be useful to write its determinant as

$$\sqrt{h} = \frac{W}{2f^2}, \qquad W \equiv \sqrt{1 + 4\partial f\bar{\partial}f}.$$
 (B.3)

The unit normal vector to Q and projectors are then given by

$$n^{\mu} = \frac{z}{W} \{1, -2\bar{\partial}f, -2\partial f\}, \qquad e_{Z}^{\mu} = \{\partial f, 1, 0\}, \qquad e_{\bar{Z}}^{\mu} = \{\bar{\partial}f, 0, 1\}, \tag{B.4}$$

and the trace of extrinsic curvature is

$$K = -2\left[f\partial\left(\frac{\bar{\partial}f}{W}\right) + f\bar{\partial}\left(\frac{\partial f}{W}\right) + \frac{1}{W}\right].$$
(B.5)

With this data, we can write the semi-classical action in M as before

$$I_G + I_T = -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \frac{V_x L_\tau}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int \frac{d^2 x}{f^2} W\left[K|_Q - T + \frac{1}{W}\right].$$
 (B.6)

We argued, on general grounds that slices minimizing this action should be solutions of Neumann boundary condition (see appendix B.3) as well as slices of constant Ricci scalar. Let us analyze this in more detail.

The full extrinsic curvature tensor defined by

$$K_{ij} = e_i^{\mu} e_j^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} n_{\nu}, \tag{B.7}$$

can be expressed as

$$K_{ij} = A_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}Kh_{ij},\tag{B.8}$$

with $h^{ij}A_{ij} = 0$. More explicitly we find

$$A_{ij} = -\frac{1}{fW} \left(H_{ij} - \frac{1}{2} H h_{ij} \right), \tag{B.9}$$

given in terms of the Hessian matrix of f and its trace

$$H_{ij} = \partial_i \partial_j f, \qquad H = h^{ij} H_{ij} = W^2 \Box f, \tag{B.10}$$

where \Box is the Laplace-Beltrami operator of h_{ij} .

Now we want to focus on the Neumann boundary condition and its trace in 3d

$$K_{ij} - Kh_{ij} = -Th_{ij}, \qquad K = 2T.$$
 (B.11)

If we just solve the equation for the trace, then we still have remaining constraints

$$K_{ij} = (K - T)h_{ij} = Th_{ij}.$$
 (B.12)

Using (B.8) this is equivalent to vanishing $A_{ij} = 0^{27}$ that, in the 3*d* case, becomes

$$H_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}Hh_{ij} = -(1+TW)fh_{ij}, \tag{B.13}$$

where in the second equality we used the relation

$$H = -f(2 + KW), \tag{B.14}$$

that can be checked by explicit computation as well as K = 2T.

²⁷This is also true in higher dim. is we set $K = \frac{d}{d-1}T$ to the Neumann boundary condition.

From (B.13) we can immediately find a class of linear solutions with vanishing Hessian

$$f(Z,\bar{Z}) = aZ + b\bar{Z} + d, \tag{B.15}$$

and fixing the boundary condition yields

$$d = \epsilon, \qquad a = b = \frac{\sqrt{1 - T^2}}{2T},\tag{B.16}$$

that satisfies (B.13) W = -1/T (with negative T) and corresponds to the solution (3.34). Note that for this solution it is very important that $T \neq 0$.

More generally, we can take a surface (see. e.g. [90])

$$(z-\alpha)^2 + (Z-a)(\bar{Z}-\bar{a}) = \beta^2,$$
 (B.17)

with arbitrary real (or purely imaginary) coefficient β and complex $a = a_1 + ia_2$, that corresponds to

$$z = f(Z, \overline{Z}) = \alpha \pm \sqrt{\beta^2 - |Z - a|^2}.$$
 (B.18)

We can verify that $A_{ij} = 0$ as well as

$$K_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}Kh_{ij}, \qquad K = \pm \frac{2\alpha}{\beta} = 2T, \qquad R^{(2)} = -2\left(1 - \frac{\alpha^2}{\beta^2}\right) = -2\left(1 - T^2\right). \quad (B.19)$$

Now, in order to impose our boundary condition on this general solution, we have to first take the formal "planar" limit of coefficients $(\alpha, \beta, a, \bar{a}) \to \infty$ with their ratios fixed. Indeed this limit corresponds to the surface parametrized by

$$0 = (z - \alpha)^2 + (Z - a)(\bar{Z} - \bar{a}) - \beta^2 \simeq -2\alpha z - a\bar{Z} - \bar{a}Z + \alpha^2 - \beta^2 + a\bar{a},$$
(B.20)

or embedding function

$$z = -\frac{a}{2\alpha}\bar{Z} - \frac{\bar{a}}{2\alpha}Z + \frac{\alpha^2 + a\bar{a} - \beta^2}{2\alpha}.$$
 (B.21)

As before (B.16), the boundary condition requires

$$-\frac{a}{2\alpha} = -\frac{\bar{a}}{2\alpha} = \frac{\sqrt{1-T^2}}{2T}, \qquad \frac{\alpha^2 + a\bar{a} - \beta^2}{2\alpha} = \epsilon.$$
(B.22)

Notice in particular that the boundary condition requires $\alpha^2 + a\bar{a} - \beta^2 \simeq 2\alpha\epsilon$.

B.2 Uniformized metric

In the construction for homogeneous solutions, it was important to choose coordinate w that was uniformizing the metric into the conformally flat one. In two dimensions, we can use this trick to write an arbitrary metric this way. Indeed we can write the induced metric on the general inhomogeneous slice (B.2) as

$$ds^{2} = e^{2\Phi(\omega,\bar{\omega})} d\omega d\bar{\omega} = e^{2\phi(Z,\bar{Z})} \left(dZ + \mu d\bar{Z} \right) \left(d\bar{Z} + \bar{\mu} dZ \right), \tag{B.23}$$

with coordinates $(\omega(Z, \overline{Z}), \overline{\omega}(Z, \overline{Z}))$ specified by

$$\Phi(\omega,\bar{\omega}) = \phi(Z,\bar{Z}) - \frac{1}{2}\log(\partial\omega\bar{\partial}\bar{\omega}), \qquad \mu = \frac{\partial\omega}{\partial\omega}, \qquad \bar{\mu} = \frac{\partial\bar{\omega}}{\bar{\partial}\bar{\omega}}, \tag{B.24}$$

where in our example we can take

$$e^{2\phi(Z,\bar{Z})} = \frac{(1+W)^2}{4f^2}, \qquad \mu = \frac{4(\bar{\partial}f)^2}{(1+W)^2}, \qquad \bar{\mu} = \frac{4(\partial f)^2}{(1+W)^2}.$$
 (B.25)

The last two identifications allow us to find coordinates $(\omega, \bar{\omega})$ once we solve the Beltrami equations with μ and its complex conjugate $\bar{\mu} = \mu^*$

$$(\bar{\partial} - \mu \partial)\omega = 0, \qquad (\partial - \bar{\mu}\bar{\partial})\bar{\omega} = 0.$$
 (B.26)

In general, the Ricci scalar of the conformally flat metric (B.23) is given by

$$R^{(2)} = -8e^{-2\Phi}\partial_{\omega}\partial_{\bar{\omega}}\Phi, \qquad (B.27)$$

where

$$\partial_{\omega} = \frac{\partial - \bar{\mu}\bar{\partial}}{\partial\omega(1 - \mu\bar{\mu})}, \qquad \partial_{\bar{\omega}} = \frac{\bar{\partial} - \mu\partial}{\bar{\partial}\bar{\omega}(1 - \mu\bar{\mu})}, \tag{B.28}$$

and requiring that $R^{(2)} = -2(1-T^2)$ would be solved by (Liouville equation)

$$e^{2\Phi(\omega,\bar{\omega})} = \frac{4A'(\omega)B'(\bar{\omega})}{(1-T^2)\left(1-A(\omega)B(\bar{\omega})\right)^2}.$$
 (B.29)

Constraint of constant Ricci scalar is clearly weaker than the full Neumann boundary condition. Indeed all our homogeneous (often referred to as mini-superspace) examples of metrics on Q embedded in AdS_3 geometries correspond to $A = \exp(2p\omega)$, $B = \exp(2p\bar{\omega})$ and $\omega = w + ix$ so that

$$e^{2\phi(w)} = \frac{16p^2 e^{4pw}}{(1-T^2)\left(1-e^{4pw}\right)^2} = \frac{4p^2}{(1-T^2)\sinh^2(2pw)},$$
(B.30)

and all satisfy

$$R^{(2)} = K^2 - K^{ij}K_{ij} - 2, (B.31)$$

with $R^{(2)} = -2(1-T^2)$. However the true minimal solutions of K = 2T and full Neumann boundary condition are obtained by setting $p \to 0$ for the vacuum, $p = \alpha/2$ for conical singularities (and p = 1/2 global AdS_3) as well as $p = ir_h/2$ for the BTZ geometry.

B.3 Inhomogeneous equations of motion

We can consider a general variation of the gravity action with respect to the metric on Q

$$\int_{Q} d^{2}x \sqrt{h} (Kh^{ij} - K^{ij} - Th^{ij}) \delta h_{ij} = 0, \qquad (B.32)$$

where in the most general case in Poincare AdS_3 , with surfaces specified by $z = f(\tau, x)$, we have

$$ds^{2} = h_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j} = \frac{1}{f^{2}} \left[(1+f_{\tau}^{2})d\tau^{2} + 2f_{\tau}f_{x}d\tau dx + (1+f_{x}^{2})dx^{2} \right].$$
(B.33)

We then have

$$\delta(e^{2\phi}\hat{h}_{ij}) = h_{ij}2\delta\phi + e^{2\phi}\delta\hat{h}_{ij}, \qquad e^{2\phi} = \frac{1}{f^2},$$
 (B.34)

which gives

$$\int_{Q} d^{2}x\sqrt{h} \left[(K - 2T)2\delta\phi + (Kh^{ij} - K^{ij} - Th^{ij})e^{2\phi}\delta\hat{h}_{ij} \right] = 0.$$
(B.35)

Then, since

$$\delta \hat{h}_{\tau\tau} = 2f_{\tau}\delta f_{\tau}, \qquad \delta \hat{h}_{xx} = 2f_x\delta f_x, \qquad \delta \hat{h}_{\tau x} = f_x\delta f_{\tau} + f_{\tau}\delta f_x, \tag{B.36}$$

after integrating by parts we can write the terms coming from extrinsic curvature as

$$\mathcal{K}\delta f \equiv -\frac{2}{f}\sqrt{h}K\delta f - \partial_{\tau}[2e^{2\phi}\sqrt{h}(Kh^{\tau\tau} - K^{\tau\tau})f_{\tau}]\delta f$$
$$-\partial_{x}[2e^{2\phi}\sqrt{h}(Kh^{xx} - K^{xx})f_{x}]\delta f - \partial_{\tau}[2e^{2\phi}\sqrt{h}(Kh^{\tau x} - K^{\tau x})f_{x}]\delta f$$
$$-\partial_{x}[2e^{2\phi}\sqrt{h}(Kh^{\tau x} - K^{\tau x})f_{\tau}]\delta f, \qquad (B.37)$$

while the terms proportional to the tension are

$$\mathcal{T}\delta f \equiv \frac{4}{f}T\sqrt{h}\delta f + \partial_{\tau}[2T\sqrt{h}\hat{h}^{\tau\tau}f_{\tau}]\delta f + \partial_{x}[2T\sqrt{h}\hat{h}^{xx}f_{x}]\delta f + \partial_{\tau}[2T\sqrt{h}\hat{h}^{\tau x}f_{x}]\delta f + \partial_{x}[2T\sqrt{h}\hat{h}^{\tau x}f_{\tau}]\delta f.$$
(B.38)

Evaluating these terms we can check that

$$(\mathcal{K} + \mathcal{T})\delta f = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad \text{EOM} = 0.$$
 (B.39)

C Properties of the gravitational action with modified Hayward term

We can check the co-cycle properties of the gravity action (without tension term) with the modified Hayward term that depends on the internal angle $\theta_0^{(i)}$ between Σ and Q_i . The action is given by

$$\kappa^2 I[\Sigma, Q_i] = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Sigma}^{Q_i} d^{d+1} x \sqrt{g} (R - 2\Lambda) - \int_{Q_i} d^d x \sqrt{h} K - \int_{\Sigma} d^d x \sqrt{h} K + \int_{\gamma} \sqrt{\gamma} \theta_0^{(i)}, \quad (C.1)$$

and the action between two surfaces Q_1 and Q_2 (with Neumann boundary condition on both) is defined as

$$\tilde{I}[Q_1, Q_2] \equiv I[\Sigma, Q_2] - I[\Sigma, Q_1].$$
(C.2)

Then we can write the following combinations for three surfaces ordered such that $0<\theta_0^{(1)}<\theta_0^{(2)}<\theta_0^{(3)}<\pi/2$

$$\kappa^{2}\tilde{I}[Q_{1},Q_{2}] = -\frac{1}{2}\int_{Q_{1}}^{Q_{2}}\sqrt{g}(R-2\Lambda) - \int_{Q_{2}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{Q_{1}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{\gamma}\sqrt{\gamma}\left(\theta_{0}^{(2)} - \theta_{0}^{(1)}\right), \quad (C.3)$$

$$\kappa^{2}\tilde{I}[Q_{2},Q_{1}] = -\frac{1}{2}\int_{Q_{2}}^{Q_{1}}\sqrt{g}(R-2\Lambda) - \int_{Q_{1}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{Q_{2}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{\gamma}\sqrt{\gamma}\left(\theta_{0}^{(1)} - \theta_{0}^{(2)}\right), \quad (C.4)$$

$$\kappa^{2}\tilde{I}[Q_{2},Q_{3}] = -\frac{1}{2}\int_{Q_{2}}^{Q_{3}}\sqrt{g}(R-2\Lambda) - \int_{Q_{3}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{Q_{2}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{\gamma}\sqrt{\gamma}\left(\theta_{0}^{(3)} - \theta_{0}^{(2)}\right), \quad (C.5)$$

$$\kappa^{2}\tilde{I}[Q_{1},Q_{3}] = -\frac{1}{2}\int_{Q_{1}}^{Q_{3}}\sqrt{g}(R-2\Lambda) - \int_{Q_{3}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{Q_{1}}\sqrt{h}K + \int_{\gamma}\sqrt{\gamma}\left(\theta_{0}^{(3)} - \theta_{0}^{(1)}\right).$$
(C.6)

From these definitions, changing the range of the bulk integrals (with minus sign) we get

$$\tilde{I}[Q_1, Q_2] = -\tilde{I}[Q_2, Q_1].$$
 (C.7)

Moreover, by adding the first and the third expression we can easily show that it is equal to the fourth, i.e.

$$\tilde{I}[Q_1, Q_2] + \tilde{I}[Q_2, Q_3] = \tilde{I}[Q_1, Q_3].$$
 (C.8)

These are precisely the co-cycle properties that we saw in the CFT definition of complexity using the improved Liouville action as well as its higher-dimensional generalization.

D Maps in AdS_3

In 3 dimensions we can use the solution in Poincare coordinates to obtain surface Q in different metrics simply by rewriting the surface equation in new coordinates. The most general asymptotically AdS metrics with flat boundary that we can consider are the Euclidean Banados geometries given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + \frac{(dw + z^{2}\bar{T}(\bar{w})d\bar{w})(d\bar{w} + z^{2}T(w)dw)}{z^{2}},$$
 (D.1)

where w = x + it, $\bar{w} = x - it$, and

$$T(w) = \frac{3A''(w)^2 - 2A'(w)A'''(w)}{4A'(w)^2}, \qquad \bar{T}(\bar{w}) = \frac{3B''(\bar{w})^2 - 2B'(\bar{w})B'''(\bar{w})}{4B'(\bar{w})^2}.$$
 (D.2)

This geometry can be mapped to Poincare coordinates

$$ds^2 = \frac{d\eta^2 + dv d\bar{v}}{\eta^2},\tag{D.3}$$

via relations

$$\eta = \frac{4z(A'(w)B'(\bar{w}))^{3/2}}{4A'(w)B'(\bar{w}) + z^2A''(w)B''(w)},$$

$$v = A(w) - \frac{2z^2A'(w)^2B''(\bar{w})}{4A'(w)B'(\bar{w}) + z^2A''(w)B''(w)},$$

$$\bar{v} = B(\bar{w}) - \frac{2z^2B'(\bar{w})^2A''(w)}{4A'(w)B'(\bar{w}) + z^2A''(w)B''(w)}.$$
(D.4)

Applying these maps to the surface²⁸

$$\eta = \frac{\sqrt{1 - T^2}}{T}\tau,\tag{D.5}$$

and subsequently solving for z(t, x) the resulting equation

$$\frac{4z(A'(w)B'(\bar{w}))^{3/2}}{4A'(w)B'(\bar{w}) + z^2A''(w)B''(w)} = -\frac{i\sqrt{1-T^2}}{2T} \left(A(w) - B(\bar{w}) + \frac{2z^2(B'(\bar{w})^2A''(w) - A'(w)^2B''(\bar{w}))}{4A'(w)B'(\bar{w}) + z^2A''(w)B''(w)}\right), \quad (D.6)$$

²⁸Note that we absorbed the cutoff into τ -coordinate redefinition.

we can find the profile for Q in these 3d metrics. The solution for z(t,x) in the general Banados geometry is complicated, so in practice it is better to insert particular $A(w), B(\bar{w})$ before solving the above equation. In the following subsection, we present how this approach allows us to find non-trivial inhomogeneous solution in the spinning BTZ metric.

D.1 Spinning BTZ

To apply the above result we first need to rewrite the Euclidean spinning BTZ metric in Banados form. The spinning BTZ metric is given as

$$ds^{2} = f(r)^{2} d\tau^{2} + f(r)^{-2} dr^{2} + r^{2} (d\phi + i\omega(r)d\tau)^{2},$$
(D.7)

with

$$f(r)^{2} = \frac{(r^{2} - r_{+}^{2})(r^{2} - r_{-}^{2})}{r^{2}}, \qquad \omega(r) = \frac{r_{+}r_{-}}{r^{2}}.$$
 (D.8)

We can rewrite it in Banados coordinates by introducing $w = \varphi + i\tau$, $\bar{w} = \varphi - i\tau$, and

$$z^{2} = \frac{r^{2} - L_{0} - \bar{L}_{0} + \sqrt{(L_{0} + \bar{L}_{0} - r^{2})^{2} - 4L_{0}\bar{L}_{0}}}{2L_{0}\bar{L}_{0}},$$
 (D.9)

with expectation values of the stress-tensor components

$$T(w) = L_0 = \frac{(r_+ + r_-)^2}{4}, \qquad \bar{T}(\bar{w}) = \bar{L}_0 = \frac{(r_+ - r_-)^2}{4}.$$
 (D.10)

We can check that these stress-energy tensors correspond to maps

$$A(w) = e^{(r_+ + r_-)w}, \qquad B(\bar{w}) = e^{(r_+ - r_-)\bar{w}}.$$
 (D.11)

Inserting these maps into equation (D.6) together with z-coordinate reparametrization, we can solve the resulting equation for $r(\tau, \varphi)$:

$$r^{2} = \frac{1}{\tilde{f}(\tau,\varphi)^{2}} = r_{+}^{2} \left(1 + \frac{T^{2} \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}^{2}}{r_{+}^{2}} \right)}{(1 - T^{2}) \sin^{2} \left[r_{+} \left(\tau - \frac{ir_{-}}{r_{+}} \varphi \right) \right]} \right).$$
(D.12)

Setting $r_{-} = 0$ we reproduce the previous thermofield double solution. Further we can verify that the inhomogeneous function $\tilde{f}(\tau, \phi)$ introduced in this way indeed satisfies appropriate equations of motion for Q surface in spinning BTZ metric.

From the boundary perspective, the Euclidean BTZ geometry is described by a CFT on a torus with Euclidean time τ and angle φ with identifications

$$(\tau, \varphi) \sim (\tau, \varphi + 2\pi) \sim (\tau + \beta, \varphi + \theta),$$
 (D.13)

where $\beta = 1/T$ is the inverse temperature and θ is the twist angle, written as

$$\beta = \frac{2\pi r_+}{r_+^2 - r_-^2}, \qquad \Omega_E = -\frac{ir_-}{r_+}, \qquad \theta = -\beta \Omega_E.$$
 (D.14)

It is also useful to define

$$\beta_{\pm} = \beta(1 \mp i\Omega_E) = \beta \pm i\theta = \frac{2\pi}{r_+ \pm r_-}.$$
 (D.15)

The standard boundary conditions for the charged thermofield double state (with momentum charge) are then imposed at

$$\tau = -\Omega_E \varphi, \qquad \tau = -\Omega_E \varphi + \frac{\pi}{r_+} = -\Omega_E \varphi + \frac{\beta_+ \beta_-}{2\beta}.$$
(D.16)

On the other hand, we could start from the vacuum solution of the Liouville equation

$$ds^2 = \frac{4dz d\bar{z}}{\mu(z+\bar{z})^2},\tag{D.17}$$

and map it with

$$z = A(w) = e^{\beta_+ w}, \qquad \bar{z} = B(\bar{w}) = e^{\beta_- \bar{w}}$$
 (D.18)

with $w = x_1 + ix_2$, $\bar{w} = x_1 - ix_2$. This way the new solution of the Liouville equation becomes

$$ds^{2} = \frac{4\pi^{2} dw d\bar{w}}{\mu \beta_{+} \beta_{-} \cos^{2} \left[r_{+} \left(x_{1} - \frac{ir_{-}}{r_{+}} x_{2} \right) \right]},$$
 (D.19)

and the boundary conditions are imposed at

$$x_1 = \frac{ir_-}{r_+} x_2 \pm \left(\frac{\pi}{2r_+} - \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{\mu}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{r_-^2}{r_+^2}}\right).$$
(D.20)

Note that in these coordinates metric is automatically diagonal. On the other hand, the induced metric in the spinning BTZ geometry (D.7) on the CMC surface $r = 1/\tilde{f}(\tau, \varphi)$ can be brought to (D.19) by mapping

$$\tan(r_{+}\tau - ir_{-}\theta) = |T|\cot(r_{+}x_{1} - ir_{-}x_{2}), \qquad r_{+}\theta + ir_{-}\tau = r_{+}x_{2} + ir_{-}x_{1}.$$
(D.21)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J. Boruch, P. Caputa and T. Takayanagi, Path-integral optimization from Hartle-Hawking wave function, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 046017 [arXiv:2011.08188] [INSPIRE].
- J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231] [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [3] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602 [hep-th/0603001] [INSPIRE].
- [4] V.E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, A covariant holographic entanglement entropy proposal, JHEP 07 (2007) 062 [arXiv:0705.0016] [INSPIRE].

- [5] M. Van Raamsdonk, Building up spacetime with quantum entanglement, Gen. Rel. Grav. 42 (2010) 2323 [arXiv:1005.3035] [INSPIRE].
- [6] B. Swingle, Entanglement renormalization and holography, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 065007 [arXiv:0905.1317] [INSPIRE].
- [7] G. Vidal, Class of quantum many-body states that can be efficiently simulated, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 110501 [quant-ph/0610099] [INSPIRE].
- [8] G. Vidal, Entanglement renormalization, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 220405 [cond-mat/0512165] [INSPIRE].
- [9] G. Evenbly and G. Vidal, Tensor network renormalization, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 180405 [arXiv:1412.0732].
- [10] G. Evenbly and G. Vidal, Tensor network renormalization yields the multi-scale entanglement renormalization ansatz, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 200401 [arXiv:1502.05385].
- [11] J. Haegeman, T.J. Osborne, H. Verschelde and F. Verstraete, Entanglement renormalization for quantum fields in real space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 100402 [arXiv:1102.5524]
 [INSPIRE].
- [12] X.-L. Qi, Exact holographic mapping and emergent space-time geometry, arXiv:1309.6282
 [INSPIRE].
- F. Pastawski, B. Yoshida, D. Harlow and J. Preskill, Holographic quantum error-correcting codes: Toy models for the bulk/boundary correspondence, JHEP 06 (2015) 149
 [arXiv:1503.06237] [INSPIRE].
- [14] P. Hayden, S. Nezami, X.-L. Qi, N. Thomas, M. Walter and Z. Yang, *Holographic duality from random tensor networks*, JHEP 11 (2016) 009 [arXiv:1601.01694] [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Beny, Causal structure of the entanglement renormalization ansatz, New J. Phys. 15 (2013) 023020 [arXiv:1110.4872] [INSPIRE].
- M. Nozaki, S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic Geometry of Entanglement Renormalization in Quantum Field Theories, JHEP 10 (2012) 193 [arXiv:1208.3469]
 [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Miyaji and T. Takayanagi, Surface/state correspondence as a generalized holography, PTEP 2015 (2015) 073B03 [arXiv:1503.03542] [INSPIRE].
- B. Czech, L. Lamprou, S. McCandlish and J. Sully, *Integral geometry and holography*, *JHEP* 10 (2015) 175 [arXiv:1505.05515] [INSPIRE].
- [19] B. Czech, L. Lamprou, S. McCandlish and J. Sully, Tensor networks from kinematic space, JHEP 07 (2016) 100 [arXiv:1512.01548] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A. Milsted and G. Vidal, *Tensor networks as path integral geometry*, arXiv:1807.02501 [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Milsted and G. Vidal, Geometric interpretation of the multi-scale entanglement renormalization ansatz, arXiv:1812.00529 [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Bhattacharyya, Z.-S. Gao, L.-Y. Hung and S.-N. Liu, Exploring the Tensor Networks/AdS Correspondence, JHEP 08 (2016) 086 [arXiv:1606.00621] [INSPIRE].
- [23] L.-Y. Hung, W. Li and C.M. Melby-Thompson, Wilson line networks in p-adic AdS/CFT, JHEP 05 (2019) 118 [arXiv:1812.06059] [INSPIRE].

- [24] L. Chen, X. Liu and L.-Y. Hung, Emergent Einstein equation in p-adic CFT tensor networks, arXiv:2102.12022 [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Jahn, Z. Zimborás and J. Eisert, *Tensor network models of AdS/qCFT*, arXiv:2004.04173 [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Jahn and J. Eisert, Holographic tensor network models and quantum error correction: a topical review, Quantum Sci. Technol. 6 (2021) 033002 [arXiv:2102.02619] [INSPIRE].
- [27] T. Takayanagi, Holographic spacetimes as quantum circuits of path-integrations, JHEP 12 (2018) 048 [arXiv:1808.09072] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Van Raamsdonk, Building up spacetime with quantum entanglement II: it from BC-bit, arXiv:1809.01197 [INSPIRE].
- [29] N. Bao, G. Penington, J. Sorce and A.C. Wall, Beyond toy models: distilling tensor networks in full AdS/CFT, JHEP 11 (2019) 069 [arXiv:1812.01171] [INSPIRE].
- [30] N. Bao, G. Penington, J. Sorce and A.C. Wall, Holographic tensor networks in full AdS/CFT, arXiv:1902.10157 [INSPIRE].
- [31] P. Caputa, J. Kruthoff and O. Parrikar, Building tensor networks for holographic states, JHEP 05 (2021) 009 [arXiv:2012.05247] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J.S. Cotler, J. Molina-Vilaplana and M.T. Mueller, A gaussian variational approach to cMERA for interacting fields, arXiv:1612.02427 [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Cotler, M.R. Mohammadi Mozaffar, A. Mollabashi and A. Naseh, *Renormalization group circuits for weakly interacting continuum field theories*, *Fortsch. Phys.* 67 (2019) 1900038
 [arXiv:1806.02831] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J.S. Cotler, M. Reza Mohammadi Mozaffar, A. Mollabashi and A. Naseh, Entanglement renormalization for weakly interacting fields, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 085005 [arXiv:1806.02835] [INSPIRE].
- [35] J.J. Fernandez-Melgarejo, J. Molina-Vilaplana and E. Torrente-Lujan, Entanglement renormalization for interacting field theories, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 065025
 [arXiv:1904.07241] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J.J. Fernandez-Melgarejo and J. Molina-Vilaplana, Non-Gaussian entanglement renormalization for quantum fields, JHEP 07 (2020) 149 [arXiv:2003.08438] [INSPIRE].
- [37] P. Caputa, N. Kundu, M. Miyaji, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, Anti-de Sitter space from optimization of path integrals in conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 071602 [arXiv:1703.00456] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P. Caputa, N. Kundu, M. Miyaji, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, Liouville action as path-integral complexity: from continuous tensor networks to AdS/CFT, JHEP 11 (2017) 097 [arXiv:1706.07056] [INSPIRE].
- [39] L. Susskind, Computational complexity and black hole horizons, Fortsch. Phys. 64 (2016) 24 [Addendum ibid. 64 (2016) 44] [arXiv:1403.5695] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A.R. Brown, D.A. Roberts, L. Susskind, B. Swingle and Y. Zhao, *Holographic complexity equals bulk action?*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **116** (2016) 191301 [arXiv:1509.07876] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Miyaji, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, From path integrals to tensor networks for the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 066004 [arXiv:1609.04645] [INSPIRE].

- [42] A. Bhattacharyya, P. Caputa, S.R. Das, N. Kundu, M. Miyaji and T. Takayanagi, Path-integral complexity for perturbed CFTs, JHEP 07 (2018) 086 [arXiv:1804.01999] [INSPIRE].
- [43] P. Caputa and I. MacCormack, Geometry and complexity of path integrals in inhomogeneous CFTs, JHEP 01 (2021) 027 [arXiv:2004.04698] [INSPIRE].
- [44] A.M. Polyakov, Quantum geometry of bosonic strings, Phys. Lett. B 103 (1981) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [45] B. Czech, Einstein equations from varying complexity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 031601
 [arXiv:1706.00965] [INSPIRE].
- [46] P. Caputa and J.M. Magan, Quantum computation as gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 231302 [arXiv:1807.04422] [INSPIRE].
- [47] H.A. Camargo, M.P. Heller, R. Jefferson and J. Knaute, Path integral optimization as circuit complexity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 011601 [arXiv:1904.02713] [INSPIRE].
- [48] J. Erdmenger, M. Gerbershagen and A.-L. Weigel, Complexity measures from geometric actions on Virasoro and Kac-Moody orbits, JHEP 11 (2020) 003 [arXiv:2004.03619] [INSPIRE].
- [49] N. Chagnet, S. Chapman, J. de Boer and C. Zukowski, Complexity for conformal field theories in general dimensions, arXiv:2103.06920 [INSPIRE].
- [50] Y. Sato and K. Watanabe, Does boundary distinguish complexities?, JHEP 11 (2019) 132.
- [51] J. Molina-Vilaplana and A. Del Campo, Complexity functionals and complexity growth limits in continuous MERA circuits, JHEP 08 (2018) 012 [arXiv:1803.02356] [INSPIRE].
- [52] G. Jafari, A. Naseh and H. Zolfi, Path integral optimization for TT deformation, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 026007 [arXiv:1909.02357] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. Ghodrati, Complexity and emergence of warped AdS₃ space-time from chiral Liouville action, JHEP 02 (2020) 052 [arXiv:1911.03819] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Ahmadain and I. Klich, Emergent geometry and path integral optimization for a Lifshitz action, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 105013 [arXiv:2005.11804] [INSPIRE].
- [55] R.-Q. Yang, Y.-S. An, C. Niu, C.-Y. Zhang and K.-Y. Kim, What kind of "complexity" is dual to holographic complexity?, arXiv:2011.14636 [INSPIRE].
- [56] A.R. Chandra, J. de Boer, M. Flory, M.P. Heller, S. Hörtner and A. Rolph, Spacetime as a quantum circuit, JHEP 21 (2021) 207 [arXiv:2101.01185] [INSPIRE].
- [57] P. Caputa, M. Miyaji, T. Takayanagi and K. Umemoto, Holographic entanglement of purification from conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 111601
 [arXiv:1812.05268] [INSPIRE].
- [58] H.A. Camargo, L. Hackl, M.P. Heller, A. Jahn, T. Takayanagi and B. Windt, Entanglement and complexity of purification in (1+1)-dimensional free conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Res. 3 (2021) 013248 [arXiv:2009.11881] [INSPIRE].
- [59] T. Levy and Y. Oz, Liouville conformal field theories in higher dimensions, JHEP 06 (2018)
 119 [arXiv:1804.02283] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J.B. Hartle and S.W. Hawking, Wave function of the universe, Phys. Rev. D 28 (1983) 2960 [Adv. Ser. Astrophys. Cosmol. 3 (1987) 174] [INSPIRE].

- [61] I. Heemskerk and J. Polchinski, Holographic and Wilsonian renormalization groups, JHEP 06 (2011) 031 [arXiv:1010.1264] [INSPIRE].
- [62] D. Harlow and D. Stanford, Operator dictionaries and wave functions in AdS/CFT and dS/CFT, arXiv:1104.2621 [INSPIRE].
- [63] T. Takayanagi, Holographic dual of BCFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 101602 [arXiv:1105.5165] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Fujita, T. Takayanagi and E. Tonni, Aspects of AdS/BCFT, JHEP 11 (2011) 043 [arXiv:1108.5152] [INSPIRE].
- [65] G. Hayward, Gravitational action for space-times with nonsmooth boundaries, Phys. Rev. D 47 (1993) 3275.
- [66] E. Poisson, A relativist's toolkit: the mathematics of black-hole mechanics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2004).
- [67] L. McGough, M. Mezei and H. Verlinde, Moving the CFT into the bulk with TT, JHEP 04 (2018) 010 [arXiv:1611.03470] [INSPIRE].
- [68] P. Kraus, J. Liu and D. Marolf, Cutoff AdS_3 versus the $T\overline{T}$ deformation, JHEP 07 (2018) 027 [arXiv:1801.02714] [INSPIRE].
- [69] P. Caputa, S. Datta, Y. Jiang and P. Kraus, *Geometrizing TT*, *JHEP* 03 (2021) 140 [arXiv:2011.04664] [INSPIRE].
- [70] J. Kruthoff and O. Parrikar, On the flow of states under $T\overline{T}$, arXiv: 2006.03054 [INSPIRE].
- [71] A. Bhattacharyya, P. Nandy and A. Sinha, *Renormalized circuit complexity*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 124 (2020) 101602 [arXiv:1907.08223] [INSPIRE].
- [72] J.M. Maldacena, Eternal black holes in Anti-de Sitter, JHEP 04 (2003) 021
 [hep-th/0106112] [INSPIRE].
- S. Chapman, H. Marrochio and R.C. Myers, Complexity of formation in holography, JHEP 01 (2017) 062 [arXiv:1610.08063] [INSPIRE].
- [74] A. Kitaev, A simple model of quantum holography, talks given at KITP, April 7 and May 27 (2015).
- [75] S. Sachdev and J. Ye, Gapless spin fluid ground state in a random, quantum Heisenberg magnet, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 (1993) 3339 [cond-mat/9212030] [INSPIRE].
- [76] J. Maldacena and D. Stanford, *Remarks on the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model*, *Phys. Rev. D* 94 (2016) 106002 [arXiv:1604.07818] [INSPIRE].
- [77] J. Maldacena, D. Stanford and Z. Yang, Conformal symmetry and its breaking in two dimensional nearly Anti-de-Sitter space, PTEP 2016 (2016) 12C104 [arXiv:1606.01857]
 [INSPIRE].
- [78] K. Jensen, Chaos in AdS₂ holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 111601
 [arXiv:1605.06098] [INSPIRE].
- [79] D. Harlow and D. Jafferis, The factorization problem in Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity, JHEP 02 (2020) 177 [arXiv:1804.01081] [INSPIRE].
- [80] L.V. Iliesiu, J. Kruthoff, G.J. Turiaci and H. Verlinde, JT gravity at finite cutoff, SciPost Phys. 9 (2020) 023 [arXiv:2004.07242] [INSPIRE].

- [81] A. Strominger and T. Takayanagi, Correlators in time-like bulk Liouville theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2003) 369 [hep-th/0303221] [INSPIRE].
- [82] V. Schomerus, Rolling tachyons from Liouville theory, JHEP 11 (2003) 043
 [hep-th/0306026] [INSPIRE].
- [83] D. Harlow, J. Maltz and E. Witten, Analytic continuation of Liouville theory, JHEP 12 (2011) 071 [arXiv:1108.4417] [INSPIRE].
- [84] J.W. York Jr., Role of conformal three geometry in the dynamics of gravitation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 28 (1972) 1082.
- [85] A. Belin, A. Lewkowycz and G. Sárosi, Complexity and the bulk volume, a new York time story, JHEP 03 (2019) 044 [arXiv:1811.03097] [INSPIRE].
- [86] A. Strominger, The dS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 10 (2001) 034 [hep-th/0106113] [INSPIRE].
- [87] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [88] X. Dong, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, De Sitter holography and entanglement entropy, JHEP 07 (2018) 050 [arXiv:1804.08623] [INSPIRE].
- [89] R. Loll, Quantum gravity from causal dynamical triangulations: a review, Class. Quant. Grav. 37 (2020) 013002 [arXiv:1905.08669] [INSPIRE].
- [90] I. Akal, Y. Kusuki, T. Takayanagi and Z. Wei, Codimension two holography for wedges, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 126007 [arXiv:2007.06800] [INSPIRE].
- [91] N.E. Mavromatos and J.L. Miramontes, Regularizing the functional integral in 2D quantum gravity, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 1847.